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I. INTRODUCTION 
 
The State of Texas through the Texas Water Development Board (TWDB) is submitting 
the Annual Report for the state Fiscal Year 2006 (FY) (September 1, 2005 - August 31, 
2006).  The Report describes how the State has met the goals and objectives of the 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) Program as identified in the grant 
agreements, the FY 2006 Intended Use Plan (IUP) and the actual use of the DWSRF 
Program funds.  In accordance with Chapter 371 of the TWDB rules, the TWDB and 
Texas Commission of Environmental Quality (TCEQ) utilize the resources of DWSRF to 
collectively administer the state’s DWSRF program. The TWDB administers the fund of 
the program and the TCEQ administers the use of the DWSRF Small Systems Technical 
Assistance and State Program Management set-aside funds in accordance with the 40 
CFR Subpart L §35.3510(b)(1) of the federal regulations. As the state primacy agency, 
TCEQ is required by the Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) to carry out regulatory 
supervision of public water systems and to enforce SDWA violations. The authority to 
establish assistance priorities and to carry out oversight and related activities of the 
DWSRF program, other than financial administration of the Fund and project oversight, 
resides with the TCEQ, the primacy agency. 

 
The TWDB and TCEQ provide this comprehensive report to the Environmental 
Protection Agency (EPA) Region 6 Office and the Public (upon request) to detail the 
activities undertaken to reach the goals and objectives set forth in the FY 2006 IUP and 
the activities and obligations under the DWSRF program.  The report describes the 
progress made toward long-term and short-term program goals, the sources (e.g., federal 
grants) and uses of all funds (e.g., loans and set-aside activities), financial status of the 
DWSRF, and compliance with federal DWSRF requirements. 
 
 

OVERVIEW OF 
TEXAS DWSRF FOR 

STATE FISCAL YEAR 2006 
Total Investment to Date: $541,782,235
Number of Projects (Closed Loans): 15
Project Funding (Closed Loans): $179,976,000
Total Population Served: 3,861,272
Average Interest Rate: 2.19%
Average Repayment Period: 20 years Mainstream
 30 years Disadvantaged
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II. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of the DWSRF is to provide below market rate loans to applicants to finance 
projects for public drinking water systems that facilitate compliance with primary 
drinking water regulations or otherwise significantly further the health protection 
objectives of the federal SDWA.  The State of Texas’ DWSRF program has received a 
total of $550,143,800 in EPA Capitalization Grants through August 31, 2006, not 
including the pending FY 2006 Grant of $67,799,550.  The TWDB has contributed 
$3,636,971 in FY 2006 bringing the total State match to $111,154,496.  The State of 
Texas has made a total of eighty-two (82) binding commitments for $541,782,235 since 
the inception of the program in 1997 [Please see Table 1 attached]. 

 
For FY 2006, the TWDB received funding requests from sixty-four (64) potential 
applicants with projects totaling approximately $272,071,000 million.  Using project 
details outlined in the 64 funding requests, TCEQ staff ranked the projects in accordance 
to TWDB rules.  TWDB staff then prepared the FY 2006 IUP based on the TCEQ’s 
ranking.  By August 2005, the TWDB approved the FY 2006 IUP and letters of invitation 
were sent in September 2005 to potential applicants (invitees) listed on the IUP based on 
available funding.  As the invitees were processed by either the receipt of an application 
by the identified deadline or notification declining the available DWSRF funding, a new 
set of invitation letters were mailed to the next potential applicants on the list to ensure 
that the entire IUP list of applicants was offered the opportunity to access the DWSRF 
program funding.  The disposition of each invitee can be found in Table 4.  In FY 2006, 
the TWDB made four (4) binding commitments for $27,905,000 from the FY 2005 IUP 
and ten (10) binding commitments for $37,401,000 from the FY 2006 IUP, for a total of 
$65,306,000.  There were revisions involving six (6) binding commitments in FY 2006 
representing a reduction of $63,898,706 in the total amount of funds committed by the 
TWDB. 
 

DWSRF Project Adjustments in FY 2006 
IUP   Commitment Closing Commitment   

Year 
Project 

# Project Date Date Amount Difference Explanation 
04 61054 LNVA-Angelina 4/01/2004 NA $55,299,706 ($55,299,706) Cancelled all 

04 61002 Bonham 2/17/2004 3/24/2006   $7,715,000 ($360,000) 
Cancelled  
part 

03 61008 MacBee 7/1/2004 NA   $5,625,000 ($5,625,000) Cancelled all 

03 60946 LCRA-Smithwick Mills 6/19/2003 6/10/2004      $759,000 ($710,000) 
Cancelled 
part 

03 60946 LCRA-Buena Vista 6/19/2003 6/10/2004   $1,606,000 ($1,544,000) 
Cancelled 
part 

99/00 60589 Orange Co WCID #1 5/17/2000 12/5/2001   $2,960,000 ($360,000) 
Cancelled 
part 

    Grand Total of Adjustments in FY 2006 $73,964,706 ($63,898,706)   
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In FY 2006, fifteen (15) projects totaling $179,976,000 started construction bringing the 
total project costs to $318,756,235. Four (4) projects, totaling $25,330,000 completed 
construction in 2006 bringing the total completed projects to twenty-three (23) and total 
costs of all completed project costs to $123,051,000.  The four projects completed during 
FY 2006 are as follows: 

 
Golden Water Supply Corporation #1 $     850,000 
Big Foot Water Supply Corporation  $     145,000 
City of Nacogdoches    $18,835,000 
City of Hamlin    $  5,500,000 

 
(Please refer to Attachment C, Binding Commitments Chart for more 
detail.) 

 
As mentioned above, the total dollar amount of commitments made from the FY 2006 
IUP during FY 2006 was $37,401,000. During this period, the total dollar amount of 
commitments made from the FY 2006 DWSRF IUP was 13.75% of the total dollar 
amount of project costs, $272,071,000, on the FY 2006 DWSRF IUP.  

 

DWSRF Summary 1997  - 2006 

IUP  
YR 

Disadvantaged 
Appropriated 

Total 
Disadvantaged 

Committed 

Dollar 
Amount of 

Actual 
Commitments 

IUP Totals 
% $ 

Committed 
/ $ IUP 

Actual 
Comm. 
Made 

Potential 
Applican
ts on IUP 

% # 
Comm. / 

# 
Potential 

1997 $21,046,140 $20,783,000 $31,973,000 $1,368,764,000 2.34% 6 281 2.14% 

1998 $16,204,320 $8,375,000 $68,365,000 $316,020,620 21.63% 11 142 7.75% 

1999 $34,634,610 $38,307,235 $91,457,235 $297,355,000 30.76% 17 102 16.67% 
2000 / 
2001 $17,723,940 $20,880,000 $75,945,000 $319,245,000 23.79% 7 75 9.33% 

2002 $18,607,110 $19,430,000 $33,335,000 $606,065,000 5.50% 6 77 7.79% 

2003 $18,495,300 $16,130,000 $30,161,000 $313,410,000 9.62% 6 69 8.70% 

2004 $15,988,475 $11,585,000 $35,255,000 $478,520,000 7.37% 9 49 18.37% 

2005 $15,954,625 $17,460,000 $137,890,000 $329,700,000 41.82% 10 58 17.24% 

2006 $20,339,865 $17,111,000 $37,401,000 $272,071,000 13.75% 10 64 15.63% 

 $178,994,385 $170,061,235 $541,782,235 $4,301,150,620 12.60% 82 917 8.94% 
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III. GOALS AND ACCOMPLISHMENTS CFR § 35.3555 (N) 
 
As documented in Table 1, by its cumulative binding commitments of eighty-two 
(82) projects totaling $541,782,235, Texas is progressing toward meeting its 
short-term and long-term goals as described in the FY 2006 IUP. 

 
Of the eighty-two (82) active projects in the Texas DWSRF Program twelve (12) 
are in design and forty-seven (47) are in construction.  Twenty-three (23) projects 
have been completed [Attachment C, Binding Commitment Chart]. Each of these 
projects should result in improved public health within the state. 
 
A. Long-Term Goals of the DWSRF Program 

 
 1. To restore and maintain the chemical, biological, and physical 

integrity of the State’s drinking water by developing a financial 
and technical program capable of funding all projects annually 
which pose the most serious risk to public health and compliance 
with the Act.  Progress toward meeting this goal will be 
documented by discussing the activities conducted during the 
year to ensure that the worst health problems are being 
addressed.  This will include the incorporation of environmental 
benefits measures in conjunction with the EPA workgroup on 
measures.    

 
Progress towards this goal in FY 2006 was achieved through 
general DWSRF project successes and the Financial, Managerial, 
and Technical (FMT) program the state has in place to ensure 
projects are capable for funding through DWSRF.   
 
The TCEQ, pursuant to the DWSRF Program Guidelines 
(February 1997), has implemented a program to evaluate the FMT 
capability of applicants to maintain SDWA compliance. This 
program ensures that loans are not made to systems that lack the 
FMT components to maintain SDWA compliance. A system 
lacking FMT capability may be funded if it agrees to undertake 
feasible and appropriate changes in operation or if the use of the 
financial assistance provided through the program will ensure 
compliance over the long-term. 

 
There were several project successes during FY 2006 related to 
this long-term goal.  The City of Nacogdoches completed a project 
designed to improve the City's water treatment facilities. The City 
utilized the $18,835,000 in DWSRF assistance to rehabilitate and 
increase the capacity of the existing water treatment facilities.  Big 
Foot Water Supply Corporation also completed a project in FY 
2006.  Utilizing $145,000 in DWSRF assistance, the Corporation 
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constructed a new water supply well to reduce radium and gross 
alpha levels to meet state and federal drinking water standards. 
Other examples were the Golden Water Supply Corporation for 
$850,000 (to drill two new wells, construct a new ground storage 
tank and booster pump station and the replace distribution lines) 
and the City of Hamlin for $5,500,000 (to make improvements to 
its water system including construction of a new water 
transmission line to the City of Abilene, a 1.5 mgd pump station 
and a surge tower).    

 
 2. To maintain the fiscal integrity of the DWSRF and assure a 

continuous enhancement of the fund for future generations by 
complying with generally accepted accounting standards and the 
establishment of a lending rate policy that also provides for long-
term inflation.  Progress toward meeting this goal will be 
documented by discussion of changes to lending rate policy, loan 
monitoring activities and default information.  

 
The fiscal integrity of the fund is maintained through controls and 
procedures governing the application process and loan monitoring. 
Prior to an application being recommended to the TWDB for 
approval, a financial analyst reviews the applicant’s ability to 
repay its DWSRF loan. The loan is evidenced by a bond or loan 
agreement that denotes the terms of payment and other special 
conditions. The loan agreement requires submittal of an annual 
independently prepared audit. The loans are reviewed at least 
annually for compliance with loan conditions. Special terms 
outlined in the loan agreement contain the requirements of 
maintaining a contingency account and a reserve account. These 
two accounts are anticipated to strengthen the integrity of the loan. 
The TWDB has had no loan defaults. 

 
 3. To maintain the fund in perpetuity by establishing a lending rate 

policy that produces sufficient repayment amounts to allow for 
the growth of funds after payment of debt service on state bonds 
of which the proceeds will be deposited to the Fund.  This would 
be balanced by a concern for the ability of applicants to afford 
the costs of their projects and with the provision of guidance, as 
necessary, in the planning and design of efficient and cost-
effective projects.  Progress toward meeting this goal will be 
documented by providing information regarding lending rates 
and status of leveraging.   
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The maintenance of the fund in perpetuity is insured by the TWDB 
establishing a lending rate at a level that produces sufficient 
repayment amounts to allow for the growth of funds after payment 
of debt service on any state bonds. No leverage bonds have been 
issued to date.   

 
  B. Short-Term Goals of the DWSRF Program 
 

1. Protect public health by providing funds for the supply of safe 
drinking water to the citizens of the State of Texas, and by 
expeditiously providing loans to water systems that are in non-
compliance with State and Federal drinking water regulations. 
Progress toward achieving this measure will be documented by 
reporting the number of binding commitments and the total 
dollar volume of assistance for the fiscal year in comparison with 
previous years.   For FY 2006, the TWDB intends to increase the 
number of commitments made in FY 2005 by 25%. 

 
The TWDB was able to meet part of its goal to increase the 
number of commitments made in FY 2006 by 25% over the 
commitments made in FY 2005.  The number of binding 
commitments made in FY 2006 was 14, compared to 10 binding 
commitments made in FY 2005.  However, the total dollar volume 
of the commitments made in FY 2006 was less than the total dollar 
volume of commitments made in FY 2005. Binding commitments 
made in FY 2006 totaled $65,306,000, compared to $116,745,000 
in FY 2005. 

 
2. Ensure compliance with the Act by working with TCEQ to 

ensure that possible technical and financial assistance. Progress 
toward meeting this measure will be documented by reporting the 
number of joint TWDB/TCEQ pre-application and follow-up 
meetings conducted for the fiscal year.  For FY 2006, the TWDB 
intends to increase the number of pre-application meetings held 
in FY 2005 by 33%. 

 
A total of 16 joint TWDB/TCEQ pre-application meetings were 
held for potential DWSRF projects in FY 2006, compared to 17 
in FY 2005. It should be noted that additional meetings and 
consultations occurred between the two agencies regarding these 
projects throughout the application process.  Also, to ensure 
program success, the TWDB and TCEQ staff met on as regular 
basis (every two months when necessary) to review the progress 
of the program and discuss available marketing opportunities, 
possible changes and/or alternative financing structures to the 
program to effectively work with potential applicants (current 
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and future), and evaluate more efficient uses for the set-aside 
funds to focus the dollars on potential small system applicants.  
The TCEQ is scheduling specialized training on system 
evaluations and demonstrations, from a regulatory perspective, 
the recent trends that Texas small systems are experiencing.  This 
type of exchange in ideas and training will cultivate new, 
innovative approaches to financing Texas systems’ needs.  The 
TWDB and the TCEQ continue to work towards bringing all 
systems into compliance with the primary drinking water 
standards through our partnership efforts. 

 
3. Assist systems to ensure affordable water by providing an 

efficient program that can respond to the financial and technical 
needs of water systems, and by providing financial assistance at 
affordable interest rates while maintaining the fiscal integrity of 
the Fund. Progress toward meeting this measure will be 
documented by reporting the estimated dollar amount of interest 
savings (over the life of the loan) resulting from binding 
commitments made during the fiscal year. 

 
Loans through this program are all made at below market rates 
with disadvantaged communities receiving additional subsidies 
including, in some cases, loan forgiveness. Actual rates are based 
upon market rates minus a subsidy set 45 days before closing. For 
example, the TWDB average rate maybe 2.55% when the market 
average is 4.05% for an insured loan.   
 

4. Support components of the state drinking water and ground     
water programs by directing the necessary resources toward the 
State's most pressing compliance and health needs. Progress 
toward meeting this goal will be documented by reporting the 
annual number and dollar amount of commitments made to 
applicants in the highest ranked portion of the annual priority 
list. 

 
As shown on Table 4, one applicant from the top ten ranked 
projects on the IUP received a commitment in FY 2006.  The City 
of Groesbeck (ranked #6 on the IUP) received a commitment in the 
amount of $1,025,000 to make treatment plant improvements to 
address disinfection by-product violations.    
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IV. OTHER DWSRF PROGRAM ACCOMPLISHMENTS AND      
IMPROVEMENTS 

  
A. DWSRF Program Accomplishments 

 
1. New TWDB SRF Marketing and Outreach Initiatives  

A significant change that will assist in the process improvement 
efforts described in this annual report is a recent reorganization 
within the Office of Project Finance and Construction Assistance 
(OPFCA) resulting in the creation of the Policy, Projections and 
Marketing Division that reports directly to the Deputy Executive 
Director of OPFCA.  This division is responsible for SRF 
coordination, policy analysis and development, marketing and 
customer relations, and data and infrastructure needs projections.   
Of note is the three-person Marketing Team in this division.  This 
team, along with other staff from OPFCA, focus efforts on 
identifying new customers, working closely with repeat customers, 
improving marketing and informational materials, improving the 
IUP process, and implementing the goals and objectives of the 
newly developed FY 2007 – 2011 State Revolving Fund Marketing 
Plan (implemented FY 2007). 

 
During FY 2006, the TWDB distributed marketing information 
and discussed its financial assistance programs with potential 
customers by participating in six conferences and tradeshows, and 
hosting an exhibit booth.  These events ranged from participation 
at the Texas Water Conservation Association to the Texas 
American Water Works Association/Water Environment 
Association Texas conferences.  TWDB staff also conducted two 
technical assistance workshops to assist entities with completing 
IUP project submittal forms.  These workshops were held in 
Harlingen and Houston, Texas.  

 
2. SRF Marketing and Outreach Collaboration with EPA 

Headquarters 
As part of the continuing collaboration with EPA Headquarters on 
DWSRF program marketing and outreach improvements, the 
TWDB is participating with other states and EPA in developing 
and implementing a variety of marketing tools.  The use of these 
tools, once fully developed, is based upon each state’s goals for 
their marketing efforts.   Examples of the tools the TWDB is 
developing with EPA and other states include: 

 
 Customer Interest and Perception Surveys – These are 

surveys designed to allow the state to understand the 
potential and current borrowers’ perceptions of the 
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DWSRF program, and which improvements or changes can 
help expand the borrower pool. 

 
 SRF Program Message TWDB - This electronic message 

TWDB or discussion TWDB is in production and it used by 
State and EPA CWSRF program staff as a forum to share 
ideas, questions, and comments. 

 
 State Revolving Fund “Up” Newsletter – EPA’s SRF’s Up 

newsletter is scheduled for publication in mid-2007.  The 
first newsletter will focus on marketing strategies for the 
DWSRF program.  Additionally, the newsletter itself is 
intended to serve as a marketing tool within states. 

 
3. Strategic Planning/Stakeholder Session 

In October 2005, a strategic planning/stakeholder session was held 
in San Antonio, Texas, to allow TWDB staff to explain funding 
opportunities provided by the TWDB and to obtain formal 
stakeholder comment on ways to enhance and improve the current 
programs.   

 
Approximately 75 of the invitees participated in the daylong 
workshop.  Attendees represented a wide cross-section of 
customers served by the TWDB and included the following 
groups: 

 
 Regional Water Planning Group members 
 Municipal organizations 
 Irrigation District members 
 Professional organizations 
 Water and/or natural resources-related state and local 

government entities 
 Engineering firms 
 Higher education representatives 
 Financial services providers 
 Legal services providers 
 Water providers 
 Environmental groups 
 National natural resources organizations 
 Consultants 
 Legislative representatives 
 General public 

  
The TWDB used this categorized stakeholder input to plan and 
coordinate the agency’s legislative process development and 
ensured that each stakeholder issue was addressed by the agency in 
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its planning cycle.  The outcome of this session also provided a 
road map for future SRF outreach and program marketing 
opportunities.   

 
The TWDB is endeavoring to implement as many stakeholder 
suggestions as possible in order to improve its products, programs, 
and services.  The success of implementation of all of the 
recommendations will depend on various factors, including: 
legislative action, resource availability, rule and/or procedural 
change (state as well as federal depending on the 
recommendation), and budget structure change. 

 
B. DWSRF Program Improvements 

 
1. DWSRF Coordinator Position 

During FY 2006, the TWDB created a DWSRF coordination 
position under the Office of Project Finance and Construction 
Assistance (OPFCA). This position focuses on policy analysis and 
development, strategic and long-term DWSRF activities, as well as 
program process improvements, program efficiency and 
effectiveness, overall program coordination, the day-to-day 
project-oriented operations, and other related activities of the 
DWSRF program.   

  
   SRF IUP Post-Mortem and Review  
 

During FY 2006, TWDB staff conducted a “post-mortem” or post 
project review of the FY 2006 DWSRF IUP development process.  
The purpose of the review was to collect specific information from 
staff involved in the IUP process to answer the following 
questions: 
 

 What went well and why? 
 What went wrong, what was the effect, and why did it 

happen? 
 What in the process was unproductive? 
 Which problems can be avoided next time and how? 
 Which good practices can be kept or improved and how? 

 
A controlled questionnaire was sent to the TWDB staff involved in 
the IUP process as well as to EPA Region 6 staff that play a role in 
the overall IUP process.  The results of this exercise were then 
used to identify various activities that would be used in improving 
future DWSRF IUP development processes.  Several of these 
DWSRF process improvement activities are discussed in the 
following sections of this annual report. 
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2. Monthly SRF Coordination Staff and Management Meetings 

Another DWSRF process improvement implemented during FY 
2006 was the creation of monthly SRF staff and management 
coordination meetings.  These meetings serve as forums to provide 
for interoffice discussion on SRF policies, procedures, and 
processes; IUPs (current program cycle, rules revisions, and 
potentials for streamlining); annual reports; National Information 
Management System (NIMS), etc. reporting; and other issues 
related to SRF activities and matters. These meetings, which are 
attended by staff at all levels of the agency from line-staff to upper 
management staff, have increased awareness of DWSRF program 
activities as well as program life-cycle components. 

 
3. OPFCA Workgroups - In FY 2006, the TWDB organized 

OPFCA staff into three workgroups defined by funding source.  
The workgroups are responsible for identifying and developing 
solutions to problems that may cause a project to fall behind its 
schedule for design, planning and construction.  Additionally, all 
DWSRF program financial applications, unclosed loans, and 
outlay reporting for requesting reimbursement of DWSRF program 
grant funds from EPA are tracked through the workgroups.  The 
workgroups develop and implement action plans to ensure 
financial applications are processed efficiently and that entities 
with DWSRF program unclosed loans and outstanding outlay 
reports are contacted on a regular basis to ensure timely closing 
and EPA draw downs.   

 
4. SRF Information Management System – In FY 2006, the 

TWDB began taking initial actions to develop improvements to 
tracking information on and the status of SRF and other state 
funded water related projects.  As a spin-off from the creation of 
OPFCA workgroups, TWDB staff recognized the need to capture 
additional information on the status of projects as they moved 
through the agency’s funding process.  As a short-term solution, a 
simple database was developed to collect information and track 
these projects.  These initial efforts also enabled the agency to 
continue to identify additional project information and status needs 
and requirements that contributed to determining that a more 
comprehensive and sophisticated approach and solution was 
needed.  As a long-term solution, the TWDB has initiated 
discussions with EPA Headquarters and Region 6 staff to explore 
opportunities to obtain qualified assistance in development of 
some type of SRF information management system. 
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5. Online Customer Survey  

In September 2005, the TWDB launched an online customer 
satisfaction survey designed to provide customers with an ongoing, 
quick and easy-to-use way of providing customer satisfaction 
input.  This survey collects information on the services and 
programs offered by the various offices of the TWDB, with a 
specific focus on OPFCA and the loan application and closing 
process and the ease of understanding and usability of the CWSRF 
and DWSRF IUP processes.   OPFCA and other offices of the 
agency continue to evaluate internal processes associated the areas 
identified in the survey to determine options for improving these 
processes. 

   
V. DWSRF LOAN AND SET-ASIDE ACTIVITIES 
 

This section provides a detailed discussion of the DWSRF assistance activities 
during SFY 2006 as it relates to Sources of Funds; Use of Funds; and Uses of 
DWSRF and Set-Aside Funds.   

 
A. Source of DWSRF and Set-Aside Funding § CFR 35.3570 (a)(2) 

 
1. Capitalization Grants and State Match 

Through the end of FY 2006, the TWDB received Capitalization 
Grants totaling $550,143,800 from FY 1997 through FY 2005. The 
TWDB contributed $16,436,971 in FY 2006 bringing the total 
State match to $111,154,496.  The State Match of $111,154,496 is 
in excess of the match required for all capitalization grants 
awarded to the State through FY 2006.  The twenty percent match 
for the $550,143,800 of capitalization grant funds awarded is 
$110,028,760 [as summarized below and in Table 1], leaving an 
overmatch of $1,125,736. 
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2. Interest Earnings and Repayments 
Principal and interest payments from outstanding loans totaled 
$12,913,045 during FY 2006. 

 
DWSRF Project Loan Repayment and Interest Activity 

Fiscal Principal Interest Total Paid in 
Year Paid Paid Quarter Period 

1998 - 2005 $18,519,000 $10,144,921 $28,663,921
2006 $8,469,999 $4,443,046 $12,913,045 
GRAND TOTAL $26,988,999 $14,587,967 $41,576,966 

 
B. Uses of DWSRF and Set-Aside Funds, § CFR 35.3570(a)(3)(i-ix):  

 
1. Loan Assistance Status:   

The FY 2006 Capitalization Grant was placed in the loan account 
in September of 2006 in the amount of $57,429,348.   FY 2005 
funds that were not committed or otherwise obligated after TWDB 
adoption of the FY 2006 IUP and after the FY 2005 funding cycle 
has ended were rolled forward to the FY 2006 IUP.   

 
a) Binding Commitments (§ CFR 35.3570(a)(3)(iii):   

The TWDB made fourteen (14) binding commitments for 
$65,306,000 in FY 2006.  

 
Four (4) commitments from the FY 2005 IUP were 
made in FY 2006 totaling $37,401,000: 

 
 East Cedar Creek Freshwater Supply District 

($730,000) - The District’s project will expand its 
existing Brookshire Water Treatment Plant from 2.0 
mgd to 4.0 mgd. Improvements to the plant will 
include the addition of a new clarifier, rehabilitating 
the existing clarifier, and adding raw water pumps. 
The District lies on the eastern shore of Cedar 
Creek Reservoir, approximately 15 miles northwest 
of the City of Athens and 40 miles southeast of the 
City of Dallas. 

 
 City of Nacogdoches ($11,520,000) - The City will 

utilize the funds to complete additional projects 
identified in the City’s 2000 Comprehensive Water 
System Plan. The project is for the expansion of an 
existing pump station and installation of lifework to 
improve supply and pressure in the City and to its 
wholesale customers.  Improvements also include 
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the construction of storage tanks and improvements 
to other pump stations in the system.  The City is 
the county seat of Nacogdoches County and is the 
oldest City in Texas. 

  

 City of Pharr ($14,000,000) - The City of Pharr will 
use the loan proceeds to expand their existing water 
treatment plants, make improvements to the plant’s 
clearwell, remove accumulated mud and silt from 
the raw water reservoir, and install water line to 
improve water pressures.  The water treatment plant 
expansion will add 5.0 mgd of capacity to the City’s 
water treatment system bringing the total capacity 
to 15.0 mgd. The City is located in Hidalgo County, 
approximately four miles east of the City of 
McAllen.  

  
 Village of Surfside Beach ($1,655,000) - The 

Village will replace failed or failing distribution 
lines and equalize service pressure through the 
construction of an elevated water tank. The project 
will bring the system into compliance with current 
TCEQ requirements for distribution line size and 
provide for improved storage.  The Village is 
located approximately 65 miles south of the City of 
Houston on State Highway 332. 

  
Ten (10) commitments from the FY 2006 IUP were 
made in FY 2006 totaling $27,905,000: 

 
 City of Groesbeck ($1,025,000) - The City’s project 

will include the construction of water treatment 
system improvements, which will allow the City to 
comply with TCEQ disinfection by-products rules. 
The project is being jointly funded with the Office 
of Rural Community Affairs. The City is located in 
Limestone County, approximately 40 miles east of 
the City of Waco. 

 
 Zapata County Waterworks ($14,826,000) - The 

project will involve a 3.76 mgd expansion of the 
water treatment plant (from 3.24 mgd to 7.0 mgd) 
and the construction of: a pretreatment clarifier; a 
one million gallon ground storage tank; a new high 
service pump station; and the installation of 8,000 
linear feet of water main. The County is located at 

       16



 

the intersection of State Highway 16 and U.S. 
Highway 83, along the Rio Grande, in southernmost 
Texas. The County’s largest town and county seat is 
the unincorporated town of Zapata. 

 

 City of Flatonia ($660,000) - The project will bring 
the system into compliance with current TCEQ 
requirements for arsenic. The City will also 
construct a ground storage tank and install 
generators for continued water production during 
electrical outages. The City is located 
approximately 65 miles south of the City of Austin 
on U.S. Highway 90 near Interstate Highway 10.  

 
 City of Cockrell Hill ($1,875,000) - The City will 

use the loan proceeds to correct existing water 
distribution pressure problems and water storage 
issues. Improvements will include the replacement 
of existing 2-inch water lines with approximately 
17,000 linear feet of 6 to 8-inch water lines and the 
construction of a 125,000 gallon elevated storage 
tank. The City is located in Dallas County, one mile 
southwest of the City of Dallas.  

 
 City of East Tawakoni ($1,250,000) - The City will 

utilize the loan proceeds to finance the construction 
of water system improvements for compliance with 
TCEQ regulations and to construct additional water 
storage capacity and distribution system 
improvements. The City is on State Highway 276 
nine miles west of the City of Emory in western 
Rains County. It was founded in the 1960’s as a 
residential community on newly-built on Lake 
Tawakoni. 

 
 Possum Kingdom Water Supply Corporation 

($1,625,000) - The Corporation operates a 1.0 
million gallon per day (mgd) water treatment plant 
that consists of two modular water treatment trains 
containing 0.5 mgd reverse osmosis units. The plant 
is near 90% capacity. With the proceeds of this 
loan, the Corporation will install a third 0.5 mgd 
treatment train and associated support equipment to 
the water treatment plant.  The Corporation is 
located around Possum Kingdom Lake in North 
Central Texas, 60 miles west of the Dallas-Fort 
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Worth metroplex. 
 

 Greater Texoma Utility Authority (GTUA) on 
behalf of the City of Van Alstyne ($1,100,000) - 
The GTUA, on behalf of the City of Van Alstyne, 
will utilize proceeds to connect the City’s 
groundwater supply to the Collin-Grayson 
Municipal Alliance (Alliance) pipeline and to do 
line work on the City’s distribution system. 
Connection to the Alliance pipeline will allow the 
City to begin converting from a groundwater to a 
surface water supply and thereby correct problems 
of exceeding secondary drinking water standards. 
The City, located in Grayson County, provides 
water and sewer service to approximately 1,225 
connections. 

 
 City of Round Rock ($12,000,000) - The City will 

utilize the loan proceeds to finance the installation 
of approximately 19,300 linear feet of 48 inch 
transmission lines and 3 new booster pumps to 
increase the amount of capacity to pump raw water 
from Lake Georgetown to the City’s water 
treatment plant to address pressure deficiencies in 
the distribution system. The City is located 
approximately eight miles north of the City of 
Austin at the intersection of Interstate 35 and U.S. 
Highway 79.  

 
 Town of Woodsboro ($525,000) - The Town has 

three wells in the Gulf Coast aquifer. The project 
will address water quality issues in these wells. The 
two older wells have an average arsenic 
concentration of 15 parts per billion. The newest 
well, drilled in 2001, has no detectable arsenic but 
has elevated levels of hydrogen sulfide, iron, and 
manganese. The Town will utilize loan proceeds to 
finance the construction of a ground storage tank to 
blend the supplies from the three wells and thereby 
reduce arsenic levels. An aeration diffuser installed 
in the storage tank will strip the hydrogen sulfide. 
Media filtration is expected to further reduce 
arsenic and to lower iron and manganese levels. The 
Town is located in southwestern Refugio County 
five miles southwest of the City of Refugio at the 
intersection of U.S. Highway 77 and Farm Road 
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2441. 
 

 Victoria County Water Control and Improvement 
District No. 1 ($2,515,000) - The District will use 
the loan proceeds to install new water main, a new 
high service pumping facility, a new ground storage 
tank, and an emergency generator at the water 
treatment plant to address pressure deficiencies in 
the distribution system. The District was created in 
1941, and is located in the unincorporated 
community of Bloomington, Texas, which is in the 
southwestern corner of Victoria County. 

 
Disadvantaged Communities:  The City of Groesbeck, 
the City of Flatonia, and Zapata County Water Works 
received commitments from the Disadvantaged 
Communities Program totaling $16,511,000. 

 
 City of Groesbeck ($1,025,000) 
 City of Flatonia ($660,000) 
 Zapata County Water Works ($14,826,000) 

 
Through FY 2006, twenty-two (22) communities have 
received $170,061,235 in Disadvantaged Community 
funds, which is 28% of the total EPA Capitalization Grants 
for the DWSRF program. 
 

DWSRF Disadvantaged Communities    

FY 
Grant 

Grant 
Amount   

    

Maximum 
amt of 
subsidy 

Actual amt of 
subsidy 

Actual amt of 
subsidy 

% of Grant 
Actually used 

for 
Disadvantaged 

% of 
AvailabilityActually 

used for 
Disadvantaged 

FY 97 $70,153,800  X 30% = $21,046,140  $20,783,000  $20,783,000       29.6% 98.7% 
FY 98 $54,014,400  X 30% = $16,204,320  $8,375,000  $8,375,000  15.5% 51.7% 
FY 99/00 $115,448,700  X 30% = $34,634,610  $38,307,235  $38,307,235  33.2% 110.6% 
FY 2001 $59,079,800  X 30% = $17,723,940  $21,240,000  $21,240,000  36.0% 119.8% 
FY 2002  $62,023,700  X 30% = $18,607,110  $19,430,000  $19,430,000  31.3% 104.4% 
FY 2003 $61,651,000  X 30% = $18,495,300  $16,130,000  $16,130,000  26.2% 87.2% 
FY 2004  $63,953,900  X 25% = $15,988,475  $11,225,000  $11,225,000  17.6% 70.2% 
FY 2005 $63,818,500  X 25% = $15,954,625  $17,460,000  $17,460,000  27.4% 109.4% 

FY 2006 $67,799,550  X 30% = $20,339,865  $17,111,000  $17,111,000  25.2% 84.1% 
Totals $617,943,350        $178,994,385  $170,061,235  $170,061,235      

Disadvantaged Communities Actually Committed   28%   
 

Small Communities:  In FY 2006, 10 small communities 
received commitments for assistance for $37,656,000.  
These communities were: 

       19



 

 
 Village of Surfside Beach -- FY 2005 IUP (1,655,000) 
 City of Cockrell Hill--FY 2006 IUP ($1,875,000) 
 East Tawakoni -- FY 2006 IUP ($1,250,000) 
 City of Flatonia –FY 2006 IUP ($600,000) 
 Greater Texoma UA-City of Van Alstyne FY 2006 IUP 

($660,000) 
 Possum Kingdom WSC FY 2006 IUP ($1,625,000) 
 City of Groesbeck FY 2006 IUP ($1,025,000) 
 Victoria County WCID #1 FY 2006 IUP ($2,515,000) 
 City of Woodsboro FY 2006 IUP ($525,000) 
 Zapata County Water Works FY 2006 IUP ($14,826,000) 

 

DWSRF Small Communities - FEWER than 10,000 persons 

Grant Year 
Grant 
Amount       

Small 
Community 

Appropriation 

Total 
Committed 
under Small 
Community 

% of Grant 
Actually used 

for Small 
Communities 

FY 97 Grant $70,153,800  X 
15
%  = $10,523,070  $5,955,000  8% 

FY 98 Grant $54,014,400  X 
15
%  = $8,102,160  $14,560,000  27% 

FY 99/00 
Grants $115,448,700  X 

15
%  = $17,317,305  $34,965,000  30% 

FY 2001 Grant $59,079,800  X 
15
%  = $8,861,970  $26,665,000  45% 

FY 2002 Grant $62,023,700  X 
15
%  = $9,303,555  $28,745,000  46% 

FY 2003 Grant $61,651,000  X 
15
%  = $9,247,650  $15,416,000  25% 

FY 2004 Grant $63,953,900  X 
15
%  = $9,593,085  $16,675,000  26% 

FY 2005 Grant $63,818,500  X 
15
%  = $9,572,775  $22,715,000  36% 

FY 2006 Grant $67,799,550  X 
15
%  = $10,169,933  $36,001,000  53% 

Totals $617,943,350        $92,691,503  $201,697,000   

Small Communities Actually Committed 33% 

Based on these commitments to small communities in FY 
2006, the TWDB has achieved compliance with Section 
1452(a)(2) of the SDWA, which requires that 15% of the 
funds credited to the loan fund be made available to 
provide assistance to public water systems which regularly 
serve fewer than 10,000 persons.   

 
Forgiveness Communities:  In FY 2006, no community 
received a commitment that included some loan 
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forgiveness.  Through FY 2006, ten communities have 
received a total of $105,987,941 consisting of $78,610,000 
in loans and $24,040,941 in Forgiveness funds.  
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             DWSRF Loan Forgiveness 

FY Grant 
Grant 

Amount    
Forgiveness 

Appropriation 

Total 
Committed 

Under 
Forgiveness 

% of Grant 
Actually used 

for Forgiveness 

FY 97 Grant $70,153,800   X 
30
%  = $21,046,140 $1,253,000  6% 

FY 98 Grant $54,014,400   X 
30
%  = $16,204,320 $0  0% 

FY 99/00 
Grant $115,448,700   X 

30
%  = $34,634,610 $6,027,235  17% 

FY 01 Grant $59,079,800   X 
30
%  = $17,723,940 $6,215,000  35% 

FY 02 Grant $62,023,700   X 
30
%  = $18,607,110 $2,791,000  15% 

FY 03 Grant $61,651,000   X 
30
%  = $18,495,300 $4,403,000  24% 

FY 04 Grant $63,953,900   X 
30
%  = $19,186,170 $0  0% 

FY 05 Grant $63,818,500   X 
30
%  = $19,145,550 $2,619,000  14% 

FY 06 Grant $67,799,550   X 
30
%  = 

 
      $20,339,865  0 

 
Totals $617,943,350        $185,383,005 $23,518,235   
Forgiveness Communities Actually Committed 13% 

 
b) Project Bypass (CFR 35.3570(a)(3)(iv):  

Bypass Procedure:  The TWDB and the TCEQ anticipate 
funding projects on the DWSRF Intended Use Plan (IUP) 
in priority order.  However, TWDB rules outline a process 
for bypassing a project on the Intended Use Plan (IUP) for 
a lower ranked project.  Because the total cost of the 
projects on the IUP is usually greater than the amount of 
funds available for loans, a funding line is established.  The 
term “funding line” refers to the point on the IUP where all 
funds available for loans would be expended.  Applicants 
with projects above the funding line are formally invited by 
letter to submit an application within three months of the 
date of the invitation letter.  Projects above the funding line 
can be bypassed if an applicant provides written 
notification that it does not intend to submit an application 
or fails to submit an application before the application 
deadline.  When either condition occurs, the funding line is 
adjusted downward in the amount of the cost of the 
bypassed project(s).  Potential applicants with projects 
above the newly adjusted funding line are then invited to 
apply for a loan. 
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An additional bypass provision exists under TWDB rules to 
ensure that a certain percentage of the total funds available 
for loans are made available to systems serving small 
communities, those communities with populations equal to 
or less than 10,000.  In the event that small community 
projects listed above the funding line do not equal 15% of 
the total funds available for assistance, the TWDB may 
bypass projects for systems serving populations greater 
than 10,000 to include additional small community projects 
above the funding line.  Bypass of large community 
projects is used only to ensure that a minimum of 15% total 
dollars accredited to the fund is made available to small 
community systems. 

 
2. Set-Aside Activity Status 

Federal regulations allow States to 'set aside' up to 31% of the 
capitalization grant funds for purposes other than loans to water 
systems. For FY 2006, the TWDB set aside 4% for administering 
the program.  In addition, the TWDB has set aside an amount 
equal to 10% of the FY 2006 grant for the TCEQ to carry out set-
aside activities relating to State Program Management and an 
additional two per cent was aside for the TCEQ to provide 
technical assistance to small systems. The TCEQ’s FY 2006 
Report on its set-aside activities is included as an attachment to 
this Annual Report.  

 
a) Administrative Set-Aside 

Federal regulations governing the DWSRF Program permit 
a State to reserve its authority to take an amount equal to 
4% of the current year's grant from a future grant to defray 
the cost of administering the program. The TWDB has 
reserved the authority to set aside funds equal to 4% of 
prior year's grants capitalization grant from future 
capitalization grants to defray costs of program 
administration. In addition, the TWDB assesses charges for 
the purpose of recovering administrative costs and places 
these funds in a separate account for future administrative 
expenses. Recipients of loan commitments will be assessed 
2.25% of the DWSRF loan amount, excluding the amount 
of the origination charge.  The loan origination charge is a 
one-time charge that is due and payable at the time of loan 
closing.  The loan origination charge may be financed as a 
part of the DWSRF loan.  Charges collected will be 
deposited into the Administrative Cost Recovery Fund.  
Monies deposited into the Administrative Cost Recovery 
Fund will be used only for administration of the DWSRF 
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program, unless the TWDB authorizes the transfer of these 
funds to the DWSRF Program Account.  Administrative 
Cost Recovery monies transferred to the DWSRF Program 
Account may be used for any purpose for which other 
funds in the DWSRF Program Account can be used. 
Monies in the DWSRF Administrative Cost Recovery Fund 
will be invested in authorized investments as provided by 
TWDB order, resolution, or rule. Program activities to be 
supported by the Administration Account include: 

 
 Reporting activities  
 Payment Processing   
 Pre-Application Activities  
 Application Review  
 Engineering Review  
 Portfolio, Audit and Cash & Securities Management  
 Financial Management. 
 Technical Assistance  

 
The TWDB Program Administration costs for supporting 
the DWSRF program were $3,331,649 for FY 2006 
bringing the total amount from the start of the program to 
$16,587,981.  

 
TWDB Administration Costs 
Draws during:     
FY 1997 $192,000    
FY 1998 $759,000    
FY 1999 $1,207,086    
FY 2000 $1,457,857    
FY 2001 $2,482,311    
FY 2002 $2,009,547    
FY 2003 $1,133,625    
FY 2004 $1,356,259    
FY 2005 $2,658,648    
FY 2006 $2,974,512    
FY 2006 Accrued as of 8/31/06 $357,137    
Total Admin $16,587,981    

 
b) Small Systems Technical Assistance Set-Aside 

The TWDB set aside an additional 2% for the TCEQ to 
provide technical assistance to small communities under 
1452(g)(2) of the SDWA.  Technical assistance activities 
include developing, issuing and managing contracts with 
professional service vendors to conduct engineering 
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feasibility studies, facility evaluations and reports, financial 
audits, environmental reviews, cost estimates, technical 
assistance and project coordination for small public water 
systems.  The TCEQ received $1,355,492 in 2% set aside 
funds in FY 2006 for this activity. 
 
 

c) State Programs Management Set-Aside  
An amount equal to 10% of the FY 2006 DWSRF grant 
was set-aside in FY 2006 for the TCEQ to carry out the 
following activities related to State Programs Management:   
 

 Administration of the state PWSS program  
 Administer and provide technical assistance through 

source water protection programs 
 Develop and implement a capacity development 

strategy  is strategy focuses on prioritized public 
water systems, applicants for Drinking Water State 
Revolving Fund funding, referrals, candidates for 
consolidation, and other systems as directed by the 
TCEQ.  

 
The TCEQ received $9,269,403 in 10% set-aside 
funds in FY 2006.  The $9,269,403 in 10% State 
Program Management Funds received by TCEQ in 
FY 2006 represents $152,390 provided from the FY 
2001 grant, $1,300,275 from the FY 2002 grant, 
$1,667,729 from the FY 2003 grant and $6,149,009 
from the FY 2004 grant. 

 
d) Local Assistance Set-Aside  

Up to 10% of the 15% allowed for the Local Assistance 
set-aside can be used for one set-aside category.  In FY 
2006, there were no projects (for Source Water Protection) 
eligible for funding under this set-aside.  However, the 
TWDB reserves the right to request up to 5% of the FY 
2006 grant for capacity development activities.  
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TCEQ Draws during FY 2006 

10% 
Set-

Asides 97 Grant 98 Grant 99 Grant 00 Grant 01 Grant 02 Grant 03 Grant 04 Grant Total 
FY 2006 $0  $0  $0  $0  $152,390  $1,300,275  $1,667,729  $6,149,009 $9,269,403 

Prior 
Years $2,500,000  $4,875,000 $4,505,732  $4,505,732  $5,747,610  $4,599,725  $4,232,271  $0 $30,966,070 

Total         $40,235,473 
2% Set-
Asides 97 Grant 98 Grant 99 Grant 00 Grant 01 Grant 02 Grant 03 Grant 04 Grant Total 

           $764,818 $590,674  $0 $1,355,492 
FY 2006           $764,818 $590,674  $0 $1,355,492 

Prior 
Years           $475,656   $0 $475,656 

Total           $1,240,474 $590,674  $0 $1,831,148 

 
VI. COMPLIANCE WITH DWSRF GRANT CONDITIONS  
 

Texas has complied with the conditions set forth under 40 CFR 35.3570(a)(3).  
Specifically, the TWDB has met the following Administrative and Programmatic 
Conditions: 

 
A. Administrative Conditions 

 
1. The TWDB monitors all projects to insure they move as timely and 

expeditiously as possible to start construction. 
 

2. The TWDB has complied with standard grant requirements and 
regulations regarding administration, property management, 
procurement and financial management, the purchase of items 
containing recovered materials, use of recycled paper, reporting, 
and use of equipment, and use of conference/convention/training 
space. 

 
3. The TWDB has complied with 40 CFR, Part 31.41 regarding 

submission of the annual FSR. 
 

4. The TWDB understands it must obtain prior clearance from OMB, 
through EPA, for obtaining information from 10 or more persons. 
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5. The TWDB has complied with OMB Circular A-87 as it relates to 
non-use of Federal and non-Federal funds to engage in lobbying 
the Federal Government or in litigation against the U.S. 

 
6.  The TWDB has disbursed all cash draws in a timely and 

expeditiously manner. 
 

7. The TWDB has compiled with the EPA Program for Utilization of 
Small, Minority, and Women’s Business Enterprises in 
procurement under assistance agreements. 

 
For FY 2006, the TWDB negotiated the following MBE/WBE 
goals with EPA, Region 6, as follows: 

 

  FY 2006 MBE Actual  FY 2006 WBE Actual 

Total 2006 
Procurements 

MBE 
Goals Dollar Value 

% of 
Procureme

nt 

WBE 
Goals Dollar Value 

% of 
Procuremen

t 
$89,650,293.4

4    $13,044,831.39 14.55%  $10,731,215.50  11.97% 

Construction 34.0% $10,733,831.39 11.97% 8.0%  $106,766.00  0.12% 

Supplies 18.0%  $2,116,500.00 2.36% 29.0% $10,611,549.50  11.84% 

Equipment 13.0%  $                    -  0.00% 13.0%  $                    -  0.00% 
Services 22.0%  $194,500.00 0.22% 26.0%  $12,900.00  0.01% 

 
The TWDB has submitted a completed Standard Form 5700-52A 
within 30 days after each federal fiscal year quarter in which sub-
agreements were awarded. Projects are assigned to a federal grant 
in chronological order by commitment date. In FY 2003, the EPA 
revised the Standard Form 5700-52A to report on the four 
procurement categories and not by grant IUP year. These figures 
may change as additional contracts are awarded in the future.
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B. Programmatic Conditions 
 

1. The TWDB has managed the DWSRF program in a fiscally prudent 
manner and adopted policies and processes that promote the long-term 
financial health of the Fund. [(Sec. 35.3570(3) (i)] 

 
The TWDB established an accounting system and internal controls 
adequate to ensure the recording and safeguarding of all DWSRF 
activities in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. 
The TWDB requires each SRF loan recipient to maintain project accounts 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and 
standards. The TWDB has maintained separate account records for the 
DWSRF account and accounts related to set-asides pursuant to Section 
1452 of the Safe Drinking Water Act as amended. 

 
2. State Match: The TWDB has satisfied state match requirements through 

match and overmatch funds related to the FY 1993 PWS grant and to 
allowable State expenditures estimated for the current fiscal year and 
deposited its match (cash or State LOC) into the Fund in accordance with 
the requirements of Sec. 35.3550(g). [(Sec. 35.3570(3) (ii)] 

 
3. The TWDB has accepted grant funds in accordance with the payment 

schedule. 
 

 

 Cash Draw/Proportionality: The capitalization grant requires the 
State to deposit matching funds to the SRF in an amount equal to 
at least 20% of each draw on the EPA/ACH Payment System on or 
before the date of the cash draw.  The TWDB transfers state bond 
proceeds to the SRF in sufficient amount that the Fund remains 
overmatched.  At the end of FY 2006, total State match that had 
been deposited to the Fund was $111,154,496 [Table 1]. State 
match required for cash draws for projects through FY 2006 
totaled $53,451,748 [Table 5], providing an overmatch of 
$57,702,748 as summarized in the following graph. 
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4. The TWDB has complied with all requirements in the DWSRF Interim 
Final Rule dated August 2000. 

 
5. Outlay Management: The TWDB has provided an estimate of outlays to 

be incurred in the next fiscal year. 
 

6. Annual and Biennial Reports: The TWDB prepared the initial Biennial 
Report for the DWSRF Program and submitted it to EPA Regional Office 
no later than 90 days after the end of the first fiscal year. This report meets 
the requirements of the 40 CRF Part 35.3570(a) (1). 

 
7. The TWDB has complied with Federal cross-cutting authorities that apply 

to the State as a federal grantee and those that flow through to assistance 
recipients. [(Sec. 35.3570(3) (xii)] 

 
8. The TWDB complied with data management and reporting requirements 

as described in “Interim Core Performance Measures & Associated 
Reporting Requirements for State and Core Output Measures for Regions 
for the Water Program for FY 1998.”  The TWDB enters data into 
DWNIMS as required. 

 
9. The TWDB reviewed all DWSRF program funded projects and activities 

in accordance with approved State environmental review procedures under 
Sec. 35.3580. [(Sec. 35.3570(3)(xiii)] 

 
All DWSRF funded projects are reviewed in accordance with the State 
Environmental Review Procedures (SERP). An EPA-like environmental 
review or alternative State environmental review was conducted on all 
SRF funded projects. There were no Environmental Impact Statements 
required. Environmental Assessments were prepared and a Finding of No 
Significant Impact was issued for each project identified as an equivalency 
project and alternative environmental reviews were conducted and a State 
determination made for all projects. 
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10. Table 2 shows that the State has exceeded the requirement to enter into 

binding commitments in an amount equal to 120% of the amount of each 
grant payment within one year after the receipt of such grant payment. 
Binding Commitments required were $478,700,231.  By August 31, 2006, 
the State had made binding commitments equal to $541,782,235 of grant 
payments through the fourth quarter of FY 2006. 

 

  

Actual Commitments / Required Binding 
Commitments

$440,000,000
$460,000,000
$480,000,000
$500,000,000
$520,000,000
$540,000,000
$560,000,000

Required Binding
Commitments

Actual Binding
Commitments

 
  

11. The TWDB funded only the highest priority projects listed in the IUP 
which were ready-to-proceed and documented why priority projects were 
bypassed in accordance with Sec. 35.3555(c)(2) [Sec. 35.3570(3)(iv)].  
(Please refer to Table 4 of this report.) 

 
12. The TWDB provided assistance to: 

 
a. Eligible public water systems and for eligible projects and project-

related costs under Sec. 35.3520. [Sec. 35.3570(3)(v)] 
b. Small systems consistent with the requirements of Sec. 

35.3525(a)(5) and Sec. 35.3555(c)(2)(iv). [Sec.35.3570(3)(vii)]  
c. Disadvantaged communities consistent with the requirements of 

Sec. 35.3525(b) and Sec. 35.3555(c)(7). [Sec. 35.3570(3)(viii)]  
 

Attachment C, Binding Commitments Chart, lists all projects that 
have received assistance through FY 2006.  

 
13. The TWDB used fees for eligible purposes under Sec. 35.3530(b)(2) and 

(b)(3) and assessed fees included as principal in a loan in accordance with 
the limitations in Sec. 35.3530(b)(3)(I) through (b)(3)(iii). [Sec. 
35.3570(3)(ix)] 

 
14. The TWDB complied with general grant regulations at 40 CRF part 31 

and specific conditions of the grant. [Sec. 35.3570(3)(xiv)] 
 

15. Funds were not transferred between the DWSRF program and CWSRF 
program [Sec. 35.3570(3)(x)], nor were fund assets of the DWSRF 
program and CWSRF program cross-collateralized [Sec.35.3570(3)(xi)].  
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TABLE 1 



7/16/2007 2:12 PM

IUP YR SRF Grant
1997 $70,153,800 $14,030,760 $0 $0 $0 $0 $70,153,800
1998 $54,014,400 $10,802,880 $0 $13,166,911 $13,166,911 $0 $67,181,311
1999 $56,612,200 $11,322,440 $3,000,000 $0 $3,000,000 $0 $59,612,200
2000 $58,836,500 $11,767,300 $0 $5,843,600 $5,843,600 $0 $64,680,100
2001 $59,079,800 $11,815,960 $10,000,000 $3,750,000 $13,750,000 $0 $72,829,800
2002 $62,023,700 $12,404,740 $14,500,000 $4,098,104 $18,598,104 $0 $80,621,804
2003 $61,651,000 $12,330,200 $20,000,000 $4,098,104 $24,098,104 $0 $85,749,104
2004 $63,953,900 $12,790,780 $10,000,000 $3,130,403 $13,130,403 $0 $77,084,303
2005 $63,818,500 $12,763,700 $12,800,000 $3,130,403 $15,930,403 $0 $79,748,903
2006 $0 $0 $0 $3,636,971 $3,636,971 $0 $3,636,971

 $550,143,800 $110,028,760 $70,300,000 $40,854,496 $111,154,496 $1,125,736 $0 $661,298,296

IUP YR Commitments
Committed 

Loan Portion
Forgiveness 

Portion
Total Funds 
Committed

1997 6 $30,720,000 $1,253,000 $31,973,000
1998 11 $68,365,000 $68,365,000

1999/2000 17 $85,430,000 $6,027,235 `  
2001 7 $69,730,000 $6,215,000 $75,945,000
2002 6 $30,544,000 $2,791,000 $33,335,000
2003 6 $25,758,000 $4,403,000 $30,161,000
2004 9 $35,255,000 $35,255,000
2005 10 $135,271,000 $2,619,000 $137,890,000
2006 10 $37,401,000 $37,401,000

82 $518,474,000 $23,308,235 $450,325,000

IUP YR
Federal Loan 
Portion

State Loan 
Portion

Total Loan 
Portion

Federal 
Forgiveness 

portion

State 
Forgiveness 

Portion

Total 
Forgiveness 

Portion
Total Federal 

Drawn
Total State 

Drawn Total Drawn
1997 $24,880,894 $5,511,106 $30,392,000 $1,023,632 $229,368 $1,253,000 $25,904,526 $5,740,474 $31,645,000
1998 $49,751,741 $11,168,259 $60,920,000  $0 $49,751,741 $11,168,259 $60,920,000

1999/2000 $60,625,654 $14,470,348 $75,096,002 $4,636,972 $1,294,202 $5,931,174 $65,262,626 $15,764,550 $81,027,176
SWP $2,145,000 $2,145,000 $0 $2,145,000 $0 $2,145,000
2001 $31,231,072 $7,738,926 $38,969,998 $4,909,488 $1,305,514 $6,215,002 $36,140,560 $9,044,440 $45,185,000
2002 $2,883,956 $720,045 $3,604,001 $235,472 $60,364 $295,836 $3,119,428 $780,409 $3,899,837
2003 $3,651,806 $861,194 $4,513,000 $1,078,412 $241,507 $1,319,919 $4,730,218 $1,102,701 $5,832,919
2004 $1,557,678 $437,322 $1,995,000 $0 $1,557,678 $437,322 $1,995,000
2005 $22,567,865 $5,270,135 $27,838,000 $110,489 $29,082 $139,571 $22,678,354 $5,299,217 $27,977,571
2006 $43,011 $11,989 $55,000 $0 $43,011 $11,989 $55,000

 $199,338,677 $46,189,324 $245,528,001 $11,994,465 $3,160,037 $15,154,502 $211,333,142 $49,349,361 $260,682,503

Match Provided 
From State 

Appropriations

Total DWSRF Commitments

Total Match 
Funds

Drinking Water SRF Fund Status      September 1, 1998 - August 30, 2006

Total Funds Drawn by Category

Table 1

Required State 
Match

State 
Overmatch

State Match 
Provided from 
Match Bonds Total Funds  

Net Bond 
Proceeds

SRF FUND TOTALS

1



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TABLE 2 



FY 97 - FY 2004
Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4 Qtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4

FY 2003 $7,000,000 $8,000,000 $8,207,808
Set-Asides $0 $0 $0
Loan Fund $7,000,000 $8,000,000 $8,207,808

State Match (20% of payment) $1,400,000 $1,600,000 $1,641,562

FY 2004 $9,105,627 $6,620,237 $8,620,237 $10,000,000 $7,000,000 $8,000,000 $9,897,562
Set-Asides $4,105,627 $620,237 $620,237 $0 $0
Loan Fund $5,000,000 $6,000,000 $8,000,000 $10,000,000 $7,000,000 $8,000,000 $9,897,562

State Match (20% of payment) $1,821,125 $1,324,047 $1,724,047 $2,000,000 $1,400,000 $1,600,000 $1,979,512 $0

FY 2005 $4,754,695 $9,136,545 $6,616,510 $8,616,510 $10,000,000
Set-Asides $4,754,695 $4,136,545 $616,510 $616,510
Loan Fund $0 $5,000,000 $6,000,000 $8,000,000 $10,000,000

State Match (20% of payment) $950,939 $1,827,309 $1,323,302 $1,723,302 $2,000,000
FY 2006     $4,826,199

Set-Asides     $4,826,199
Loan Fund     $0

State Match (20% of payment) $965,240
QUARTERLY 

REQUIRED
$15,221,125 $16,924,047 $19,573,417 $12,950,939 $15,227,309 $16,923,302 $21,600,376 $12,000,000

CUMULATIVE 
REQUIRED BINDING 
COMMITMENTS

$414,030,702 $429,251,827 $446,175,875 $465,749,292 $478,700,231 $493,927,540 $510,850,842 $532,451,218 $544,451,218

 FY 97 - FY 05 
Total

FY 1997 - 2004 -$63,178,706 -$720,000

FY 2005 $26,250,000 $1,655,000  

FY 2006 $1,025,000 $18,611,000 $17,765,000   

QUARTERLY TOTAL $26,250,000 $2,680,000 -$44,567,706 $17,045,000 $0 $0 $0 $0
CUMULATIVE 
BINDING $540,374,941 $566,624,941 $569,304,941 $524,737,235 $541,782,235 $541,782,235 $541,782,235 $541,782,235 $541,782,235
COMMITMENTS
CUM. BINDING
COMMITMENTS 130.81% 132.00% 127.60% 112.67% 113.18%     
AS % OF REQUIRED  
AMOUNT

GRANT PAYMENTS GRANT PAYMENTS

Table 2
DWSRF GRANT PAYMENTS and BINDING COMMITMENTS by Quarter

FY 1997 - 2006 Projects
FY 2005 FY 2006

FY 2006 BINDING COMMITMENT

NOTE:  According to the DWSRF Final Rule August 2000, Required Binding Commitments are calculated as the amount of the Loan Fund Payment plus the 20% State Match for the federal 
quarter. The cumulative binding commitments for each federal fiscal quarter are matched to the prior years quarter required binding commitments to determine the percentage achieved.  
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Grant Loan portion of grant TCEQ Portion SWP Portion
TCEQ 2% Small 

Systems
TWDB Administration Set-

Aside
97 $70,153,800 $64,847,648 $2,500,000 $2,806,152
98 $54,014,400 $49,139,400 $4,875,000
99 $56,612,200 $44,284,672 $4,505,732 $5,661,220 $2,160,576

2000 $58,836,500 $53,856,988 $4,505,732 $473,780
2001 $59,079,800 $50,915,312 $5,900,000  $2,264,488
2002 $62,023,700 $52,529,766 $5,900,000 $1,240,474 $2,353,460
2003 $61,651,000 $52,207,808 $5,900,000 $1,180,000 $2,363,192
2004 $63,953,900 $53,897,562 $6,395,390 $1,180,000 $2,480,948
2005 $63,818,500 $53,694,240 $6,381,850 $1,276,370 $2,466,040
2006 $67,799,550 $57,429,348 $6,381,850 $1,276,370 $2,711,982
Total $617,943,350 $532,802,744 $53,245,554 $6,135,000 $6,153,214 $19,606,838

Total Grant $ DRAWN Loan Portion Drawn TCEQ Drawn SWP Drawn SS Drawn Set-Aside Drawn
97 -$70,153,800 -$64,847,648 -$2,500,000 -$2,806,152
98 -$54,014,400 -$49,139,400 -$4,875,000  
99 -$53,095,980 -$44,284,672 -$4,505,732 -$2,145,000 -$2,160,576

2000 -$55,422,157 -$50,916,425 -$4,505,732  
2001 -$8,164,488 $0 -$5,900,000 -$2,264,488
2002 -$9,493,934 $0 -$5,900,000 -$1,240,474 -$2,353,460
2003 -$8,853,866 $0 -$5,900,000 -$590,674 -$2,363,192
2004 -$8,060,113 $0 -$6,149,009 $0 -$1,911,104
2005 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
2006 $0 $0 $0 $0
Total -$267,258,738 -$209,188,145 -$40,235,473 -$2,145,000 -$1,831,148 -$13,858,972

Grant $ Remaining Loan Portion Remainder TCEQ Remainder SWP Remainder SS Remainder Set-Aside Remainder
97 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0
98 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0  
99 $3,516,220 $0 $0 $3,516,220 $0 $0

2000 $3,414,343 $2,940,563 $0 $473,780 $0 $0
2001 $50,915,312 $50,915,312 $0 $0 $0 $0
2002 $52,529,766 $52,529,766 $0 $0 $0 $0
2003 $52,797,134 $52,207,808 $0 $0 $589,326 $0
2004 $55,893,787 $53,897,562 $246,381 $0 $1,180,000 $569,844
2005 $63,818,500 $53,694,240 $6,381,850 $0 $1,276,370 $2,466,040
2006 $67,799,550 $57,429,348 $6,381,850 $0 $1,276,370 $2,711,982
Total $350,684,612 $323,614,599 $13,010,081 $3,990,000 $4,322,066 $5,747,866

Grant Balance Summary Sheet
Table 3

pknauer\dwsrf\monthly\grant balances 1
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Loan Amount Comb. 
Fact.

Commitment 
Date

Commitment 
Amount Disposition

1 Richland SUD X X $5,745,000 25.19 Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance
2 Emory X X $12,295,000 19.23 Invited - Did not submitt an application
3 Cisco X X $2,770,000 12.88 Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance
4 Wolfe City X X $2,120,000 12.53   Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance
5 Duval Co CRD X X $1,805,000 11.52 Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance
6 Groesbeck X X $1,025,000 11.17 2/14/2006 1,025,000 Received Commitment
7 Midland  $35,320,000 10.54 Invited - Did not submitt an application
8 Loop WSC X $425,000 9.82 Invited - Did not submitt an application
9 Lyford X X $10,430,000 9.56 Invited - Did not submitt an application

10 Lake Livingston WSSSC  X X $7,985,000 8.72 Invited - Did not submitt an application
11 Zapata County Water Works X X $14,826,000 8.18 4/17/2006 14,826,000 Received Commitment
12 Flatonia X X $660,000 8.05 4/17/2006 660,000 Received Commitment
13 Marlin X X $12,600,000 8 Invited - Did not submitt an application

14 Edgewood X X $585,000 7.47 Invited - Did not submitt an application
15 Cockrell Hill   X $1,875,000 7.25 5/15/06 $1,875,000 Received Commitment
16 El Paso Co Tornillo WID X X $455,000 6.41 9/19/06 $600,000 Received Commitment
17 Jim Wells Co FWSD # 1 X X $565,000 6.22 Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance
18 Woodsboro  X $525,000 5.97 8/16/06 $525,000 Received Commitment
19 Ricardo WSC  X X $2,295,000 5.95   Invited, applied, but declined Commitment
20 Caney Creek MUD X X $1,370,000 4.5 Invited - Did not submitt an application
21 Suburban MHP 2 X $99,000 4.36 Invited - Did not submitt an application
22 Point Comfort  X $2,010,000 4.35 Received Commitment
23 G&W WSC X $195,000 4.16 Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance

24 Rio Grande City X X  $29,125,000 4.13 Invited - Did not submitt an application
25 Wortham X X $1,000,000 4.08 Invited - Did not submitt an application
26 East Tawakoni X $1,370,000 3.85 5/15/06 $1,250,000 Received Commitment
27 Ackerly WSC X $100,000 3.38 Invited - Did not submitt an application
28 Cottonwood Shores X $2,250,000 3.37 Invited - Did not submitt an application
29 Danny Boy Mobile Home Park X $95,000 2.93 Invited - Did not submitt an application
30 Coleman X X X $2,100,000 2.7 Invited - Did not submitt an application
31 Avery X X $410,000 2.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application
32 Kosse X X $1,020,000 2 Invited - Did not submitt an application
33 Winnsboro X X $1,290,000 2 Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance
34 Donna X  $1,385,000 2 Invited - Did not submitt an application

DWSRF Disposition of FY 2006 IUP
Table 4
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Commitment 
Amount Disposition

DWSRF Disposition of FY 2006 IUP

35 Los Fresnos X X $10,325,000 1.5 16-Aug 10,325,000 Received Commitment
36 Water Association of Northlake  X $100,000 1.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application
37 King Creek WSC X $535,000 1.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application
38 Lee Co FWSD 1 X $1,050,000 1.25 Invited - Formally declined invitation to apply for assistance
39 Malakoff X X $525,000 1.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application

40 Diboll X X $6,500,000 1.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application
41 Farmersville X X $2,045,000 1.13 Invited - Did not submitt an application
42 Lamar WSC X $305,000 1 Invited - Did not submitt an application
43 Point X X $1,095,000 1 Invited - Did not submitt an application
44 Montgomery Co MUD # 15 X $1,315,000 1 Invited - Did not submitt an application
45 Upper Leon River MWD X X $3,166,000 1 Invited - Did not submitt an application
46 Victoria Co WCID # 1  X $2,515,000 1 8/16/06 2,515,000 Received Commitment
47 Stanton X X $935,000 1 Invited - Did not submitt an application
48 Jonah Water SUD  $8,000,000 1 Invited - Did not submitt an application
49 Round Rock $11,235,000 1 8/16/06 12,000,000 Invited - Did not submitt an application
50 Commerce X X X $1,800,000 0.9 Invited - Did not submitt an application
51 Golden WSC X $820,000 0.38 Invited - Did not submitt an application
52 Trenton X $1,885,000 0.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application
53 Greater Texoma UA - Van Alstyne X $3,120,000 0.25 8/16/06 $1,100,000 Received Commitment
54 Possum Kingdom WSC X $1,625,000 0.25 7/18/06 $1,625,000 Received Commitment
55 Brazoria X $1,000,000 0.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application
56 New Caney MUD X $2,445,000 0.25 Invited - Did not submitt an application

57 Weatherford X X $30,525,000 0.25 Invited - Verbally declined invitation to apply for assistance
58 Timberlane Water System Inc X $70,000 0 Invited - Did not submitt an application
59 Montgomery Co UD # 4 X $1,640,000 0 Invited - Did not submitt an application
60 Hidalgo Co MUD # 1  X $5,870,000 0 Invited - Did not submitt an application
61 Kaufman X $615,000 0 Invited - Did not submitt an application
62 Combined Consumers SUD X $920,000 0 Invited - Did not submitt an application
63 Nacogdoches X  $11,460,000 0 Invited - Did not submitt an application
64 Reno X $505,000 0 Invited - Did not submitt an application
2 Emory X X $12,295,000 19.23 Invited - Did not submitt an application

$272,071,000
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Table 5
DWSRF Federal Draws During FY 2006

Sept - Nov Dec - Feb March - May June - Aug
TotalQtr 1 Qtr 2 Qtr 3 Qtr 4

ACH Available (Beginning) $258,740,360 $262,865,438 $264,733,621 $264,263,463
Cumulative ACH Payments $16,136,545 $14,616,510 $18,514,072 $10,000,000 $59,267,127
Cash draws from ACH (10% Set-Asides/Admin) $898,800 $850,344 $749,228 $797,590 $3,295,962
Cash draws from ACH (2% TCEQ Set-Asides/Admin) $369,758 $588,604 $397,131 $1,355,493
Cash draws from ACH (TCEQ) $3,087,316 $1,734,122 $3,133,366 $1,314,599 $9,269,403
Cash draws from SWP
Cash Draws from ACH (Loans) $8,025,351 $9,794,103 $14,513,032 $13,543,812 $45,876,298
Total Cash Draws $12,011,467 $12,748,327 $18,984,230 $16,053,132
ACH Available (Ending) $262,865,438 $264,733,621 $264,263,463 $258,210,331

Table 5A
Total DWSRF Federal Draws from FY 1998 - FY 2006

FY Federal
Actual State Match 

Drawn
Total Funds 

Drawn

1998 - 2005 $165,456,848 $38,055,660 $203,512,508
2006 $45,876,298 $11,293,695 $57,169,993

Totals $211,333,146 $49,349,355 $260,682,501
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        Table 6

Receipent

Amount Entity has 
received as of 
08/31/2006

Outstanding Balance 
at 8-31-2006

Repayments 
Due From

Repayments 
Due To

Interest Rate 
minimum

Interest Rate 
maximum

 ALVORD, CITY OF 270,000.00 240,000.00 10/1/2004 10/1/2023 0.000000 0.034000
 BALLINGER, CITY OF 5,250,000.00 4,665,000.00 6/1/2004 6/1/2023 0.025500 0.043000
 BIG FOOT WSC 69,000.00 58,000.00 10/1/2001 10/1/2030 0.010000 0.010000
 BROWNWOOD, CITY OF 1,010,000.00 765,000.00 3/15/2006 3/15/2025 0.031000 0.046500
 BURLESON CO MUD #1 1,440,000.00 1,430,000.00 6/1/2005 6/1/2034 0.015000 0.041500
 BURLESON CO MUD #1 70,000.00 67,000.00 6/1/2006 6/1/2035 0.016500 0.036500
 CORSICANA, CITY OF 10,865,000.00 8,420,000.00 8/15/2001 8/15/2020 0.030000 0.046000
 DEL RIO, CITY OF 5,400,000.00 4,050,000.00 6/1/2002 6/1/2021 0.000000 0.000000
 DEPORT, CITY OF 350,000.00 280,000.00 9/1/2001 9/1/2020 0.031000 0.043500
 EAGLE PASS, CITY OF 7,455,000.00 4,425,000.00 12/1/2003 12/1/2032 0.000000 0.037000
 EAST MEDINA CO SUD 3,200,000.00 2,575,000.00 7/1/2002 7/1/2021 0.018500 0.037000
 EL PASO, CITY OF 15,190,000.00 12,315,000.00 3/1/2002 3/1/2021 0.032000 0.047000
 GOLDEN WSC 850,000.00 825,000.00 7/1/2002 7/1/2022 0.010100 0.045500
 GREATER TEXOMA UA 325,000.00 255,000.00 10/1/2000 10/1/2019 0.027000 0.047000
 HUDSON OAKS, CITY OF 1,320,000.00 990,000.00 8/1/2001 8/1/2019 0.031500 0.044000
 KOUNTZE, CITY OF 930,000.00 895,000.00 3/15/2000 3/15/2024 0.000000 0.000000
 MEXIA, CITY OF 560,000.00 480,000.00 8/15/2003 8/15/2022 0.019700 0.049700
 MEXIA, CITY OF 595,000.00 550,000.00 8/15/2005 8/15/2024 0.011900 0.031500
 MOUNT CALM, CITY OF 331,000.00 313,000.00 3/1/2005 3/1/2024 0.002500 0.038000
 NORTHEAST TEXAS MWD 6,800,000.00 5,540,000.00 9/1/2001 9/1/2020 0.027500 0.046000
 OLNEY, CITY OF 1,250,000.00 1,100,000.00 9/1/2003 9/1/2022 0.003000 0.036500
 ORANGE CO WCID #1 2,565,000.00 2,120,000.00 2/15/2003 2/15/2021 0.012500 0.039000
 PALMER, CITY OF 1,405,000.00 1,185,000.00 7/1/2003 7/1/2022 0.007000 0.040000
 POSSUM KINGDOM WSC 4,700,000.00 4,360,000.00 12/15/2004 12/15/2023 0.010000 0.010000
 RAYMONDVILLE, CITY OF 3,030,000.00 2,895,000.00 4/1/2003 4/1/2022 0.010500 0.043000
 SWEETWATER, CITY OF 7,315,000.00 5,855,000.00 8/15/2000 8/15/2020 0.016000 0.034500
 TIOGA, CITY OF 580,000.00 555,000.00 4/1/2002 4/1/2031 0.032000 0.044000
 VERNON, CITY OF 4,985,000.00 4,005,000.00 3/15/2002 3/15/2021 0.035000 0.045500
 WEST JEFFERSON CO MWD 4,195,000.00 3,730,000.00 4/1/2003 4/1/2022 0.034000 0.045000

 

DWSRF Projects that have completed construction as of 08/31/2006:



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TABLE 7 



        Table 7
DWSRF Projects that have started (but not completed) construction as of 08/31/2006:

Receipent

Amount Entity has 
received as of 

08/31/2006
Outstanding Balance at

8-31-2006
 Repayments Due 

From
Repayments 
Due To

Interest Rate 
minimum

Interest Rate 
maximum

 BAYTOWN AREA WATER AUTHORITY 360,000.00 360,000.00 5/1/2007 5/1/2026 0.022500 0.031500
 BRADY, CITY OF 5,960,000.00 5,085,000.00 5/1/2002 5/1/2031 0.000000 0.000000
 BROOKELAND FWSD 1,880,000.00 1,695,000.00 9/1/2001 9/1/2020 0.030500 0.048000
 BROWNWOOD, CITY OF 6,385,000.00 5,760,000.00 3/15/2002 3/15/2021 0.003000 0.033500
 DEL RIO, CITY OF 5,845,000.00 4,105,000.00 6/1/2001 6/1/2020 0.000000 0.000000
 DEL RIO, CITY OF 6,220,000.00 5,410,000.00 6/1/2004 6/1/2022 0.011500 0.039500
 EAGLE PASS, CITY OF 11,545,000.00 11,160,000.00 12/1/2005 12/1/2034 0.000000 0.000000
 EL JARDIN WSC 420,000.00 270,000.00 9/1/2004 9/1/2033 0.014500 0.052000
 FORT WORTH, CITY OF 26,230,000.00 26,230,000.00 3/1/2007 3/1/2025 0.016500 0.029500
 HAMLIN, CITY OF 5,500,000.00 4,750,000.00 3/1/2002 3/1/2031 0.000000 0.000000
 HOUSTON, CITY OF 2,145,000.00 2,125,000.00 12/1/2004 12/1/2023 0.012500 0.037500
 JUNCTION, CITY OF 240,000.00 20,000.00 3/1/2004 3/1/2033 0.001000 0.042000
 LOWER NECHES VALLEY AUTHORITY 18,994,000.00 18,319,000.00 8/1/2006 8/1/2035 0.000000 0.000000
 LUFKIN, CITY OF 9,230,000.00 6,840,000.00 11/1/2002 11/1/2021 0.029500 0.041000
 MARLIN, CITY OF 704,000.00 704,000.00 7/1/2007 7/1/2036 0.000000 0.000000
 MILLERSVIEW-DOOLE WSC 1,678,000.00 1,602,000.00 12/1/2005 12/1/2034 0.000000 0.000000
 NACOGDOCHES, CITY OF 18,835,000.00 18,715,000.00 3/1/2003 3/1/2030 0.024000 0.036500
 NACOGDOCHES, CITY OF 7,655,000.00 7,640,000.00 3/1/2004 3/1/2034 0.011500 0.038500
 NORTHEAST TEXAS MWD 2,480,000.00 2,480,000.00 9/1/2007 9/1/2026 0.013800 0.040300
 NORTHEAST TEXAS MWD 1,305,000.00 1,290,000.00 9/1/2005 9/1/2024 0.007400 0.041400
 PECOS CITY, TOWN OF 8,315,000.00 6,825,000.00 6/15/2001 6/15/2020 0.010000 0.010000
 RENO CITY OF 330,000.00 275,000.00 1/1/2005 1/1/2024 0.001000 0.036000
 ROMA, CITY OF 2,327,000.00 1,847,000.00 11/1/2000 11/1/2029 0.000000 0.000000
 SANTA ROSA, CITY OF 410,000.00 410,000.00 2/1/2007 2/1/2026 0.024500 0.035000
 SUNBELT FWSD 2,475,000.00 2,210,000.00 12/1/2002 12/1/2026 0.010500 0.035500
 WILLIS, CITY OF 765,000.00 510,000.00 8/1/2004 8/1/2023 0.001500 0.038000
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TEXAS WATER DEVELOPMENT BOARD
DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND

PROJECTED ANNUAL CASH FLOW COVERAGE
AS OF AUGUST 31, 2006

Minimum Coverage 0.38           
Net

Fiscal Funds On Projected Total Coverage Balance
Year Hand Revenues Projected on Total After Projected Projected

Ending Available to pay To Pay Match Bond Debt Debt Fee Operating
8/31 Debt Service Debt Service (2) Debt Service (3) Service Service (4) Income (5) Expenses

2007 (1) $8,959,658 $5,614,687 $5,081,979 2.87 $9,492,366 $1,318,500 $3,250,000
2008 -                          8,235,848              5,122,011             1.61 3,113,837            1,318,500          3,250,000        
2009 -                          7,979,775              5,168,563             1.54 2,811,212            1,318,500          3,347,500        
2010 -                          7,681,911              5,205,928             1.48 2,475,983            1,318,500          3,447,925        
2011 -                          7,355,264              5,254,263             1.40 2,101,002            1,318,500          3,551,363        
2012 -                          6,989,887              5,292,815             1.32 1,697,072            1,318,500          3,551,363        
2013 -                          6,607,090              5,321,778             1.24 1,285,311            1,318,500          3,551,363        
2014 -                          6,164,341              5,366,355             1.15 797,987               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2015 -                          5,691,850              5,405,278             1.05 286,571               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2016 -                          5,213,554              5,432,590             0.96 (219,037)              1,318,500          3,551,363        
2017 -                          4,821,830              5,468,185             0.88 (646,354)              1,318,500          3,551,363        
2018 -                          4,375,158              5,496,774             0.80 (1,121,616)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2019 -                          3,910,577              5,532,514             0.71 (1,621,937)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2020 -                          3,402,873              5,569,851             0.61 (2,166,978)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2021 -                          2,882,739              5,348,435             0.54 (2,465,696)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2022 -                          2,397,975              5,380,555             0.45 (2,982,580)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2023 -                          2,047,334              5,413,065             0.38 (3,365,731)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2024 -                          1,725,119              4,599,694             0.38 (2,874,575)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2025 -                          1,425,881              3,437,666             0.41 (2,011,785)           1,318,500          3,551,363        
2026 -                          1,170,167              1,822,922             0.64 (652,755)              1,318,500          3,551,363        
2027 -                          910,894                 995,657                0.91 (84,763)                1,318,500          3,551,363        
2028 -                          739,703                 -                            739,703               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2029 -                          582,022                 -                            582,022               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2030 -                          446,013                 -                            446,013               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2031 -                          349,378                 -                            349,378               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2032 288,468                 -                            288,468               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2033 228,418                 -                            228,418               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2034 173,955                 -                            173,955               1,318,500          3,551,363        
2035 123,520                 1,318,500          3,551,363        

$99,683,317 $101,716,878

(1)   I&S and Depository Fund Balances as of August 31, 2006.
(2)   Represents the total income available to pay debt service from the "Sources of Revenue" Table.
(3)   Represents the Match Debt Service requirements from the "Schedule of Debt Service Requirements" table.
(4)  These funds available after payment of operating expenses are assumed to be used for new loans.
(5)  The service charges are fees charged to borrowers to cover the administrative costs of the program.  The fees in all years
       are based upon the assumption that $58,600,000 in principal amount of loans are made per year
       with charges of 2.25% of the loan amount.  Fees are collected outside of the State Revolving Fund based upon Federal
       requirements.  Borrowers are being provided an additional reduction in loan rates to offset the charges.
       This is reflected in the cash flow loan rate assumptions.



TEXAS WATER DEVELOPMENT BOARD
DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND

PROJECTED SOURCES OF REVENUES
AS OF AUGUST 31, 2006

Scheduled
Interest Income Projected 

Fiscal from Existing Interest Collections 
Year Political from Future Projected Revenue 

Ending Subdivision Loan Investment To Pay 
8/31 Bonds (2) Commitments (3) Income (4) Debt Service 

2007 (1) $4,825,248 $789,439 $5,614,687
2008 5,233,044                         $2,854,537 148,267                            8,235,848                         
2009 4,990,005                         2,843,385                         146,386                            7,979,775                         
2010 4,723,139                         2,814,144                         144,628                            7,681,911                         
2011 4,441,462                         2,769,236                         144,567                            7,355,264                         
2012 4,138,810                         2,708,558                         142,519                            6,989,887                         
2013 3,817,256                         2,642,401                         147,432                            6,607,090                         
2014 3,449,498                         2,570,448                         144,396                            6,164,341                         
2015 3,064,423                         2,489,969                         137,458                            5,691,850                         
2016 2,700,168                         2,405,139                         108,247                            5,213,554                         
2017 2,408,380                         2,307,382                         106,069                            4,821,830                         
2018 2,104,507                         2,165,753                         104,899                            4,375,158                         
2019 1,784,412                         2,018,583                         107,582                            3,910,577                         
2020 1,435,079                         1,866,786                         101,008                            3,402,873                         
2021 1,083,079                         1,709,419                         90,241                              2,882,739                         
2022 799,290                            1,541,011                         57,674                              2,397,975                         
2023 634,267                            1,362,990                         50,078                              2,047,334                         
2024 500,266                            1,181,347                         43,507                              1,725,119                         
2025 383,782                            1,009,974                         32,125                              1,425,881                         
2026 304,565                            834,969                            30,633                              1,170,167                         
2027 228,170                            655,932                            26,792                              910,894                            
2028 180,558                            533,520                            25,625                              739,703                            
2029 132,546                            424,928                            24,548                              582,022                            
2030 84,174                              361,839                            -                                        446,013                            
2031 35,401                              313,977                            -                                        349,378                            
2032 22,508                              265,960                            -                                        288,468                            
2033 10,937                              217,481                            -                                        228,418                            
2034 3,403                                170,552                            -                                        173,955                            
2035 -                                        123,520                            -                                        123,520                            

$53,518,372 43,310,825                       $2,854,119 $99,683,317

(1)  Represents revenues projected for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2007.
(2)  Represents scheduled interest only repayments from $215,924,000 outstanding principal amount of Political Subdivision Bonds as of August 31, 2006.
(3)  Represents projected Repayments from committed Political Subdivision Bonds that the Board has approved for funding and made a binding commitment 
       to purchase, subject to availability of funds and compliance by Political Subdivisions with certain conditions.  The actual interest rates are not determined
       until approximately 45 days prior to closing, and are based upon Board rules which consider market rate at the time and other characteristics of the loan  
       (bonds).  Political Subdivision Bonds have an assumed interest rate of 2.7% for purposes of illustration.
(4)  Assumes investment income from float at 4.32% per annum, $29,624,000 investment income from funds on hand but not committed at 4.57% per
       annum and from reserve funds.



TEXAS WATER DEVELOPMENT BOARD
DRINKING WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND
 DEBT SERVICE ON OUTSTANDING BONDS

AS OF AUGUST 31, 2006

Fiscal
Year Total

Ending Match Bonds (2) Debt
8/31 Principal Interest Total Service

2007 (1) $2,005,000 $3,076,979 $5,081,979 $5,081,979
2008 2,115,000              3,007,011              5,122,011              5,122,011                             
2009 2,240,000              2,928,563              5,168,563              5,168,563                             
2010 2,365,000              2,840,928              5,205,928              5,205,928                             
2011 2,510,000              2,744,263              5,254,263              5,254,263                             
2012 2,655,000              2,637,815              5,292,815              5,292,815                             
2013 2,800,000              2,521,778              5,321,778              5,321,778                             
2014 2,970,000              2,396,355              5,366,355              5,366,355                             
2015 3,145,000              2,260,278              5,405,278              5,405,278                             
2016 3,320,000              2,112,590              5,432,590              5,432,590                             
2017 3,515,000              1,953,185              5,468,185              5,468,185                             
2018 3,715,000              1,781,774              5,496,774              5,496,774                             
2019 3,935,000              1,597,514              5,532,514              5,532,514                             
2020 4,170,000              1,399,851              5,569,851              5,569,851                             
2021 4,160,000              1,188,435              5,348,435              5,348,435                             
2022 4,405,000              975,555                 5,380,555              5,380,555                             
2023 4,665,000              748,065                 5,413,065              5,413,065                             
2024 4,095,000              504,694                 4,599,694              4,599,694                             
2025 3,145,000              292,666                 3,437,666              3,437,666                             
2026 1,690,000              132,922                 1,822,922              1,822,922                             
2027 950,000                 45,657                   995,657                 995,657                                
2028 -                             -                             -                             -                                            
2029 -                             -                             -                             -                                            
2030 -                             -                             -                             -                                            
2031 -                             -                             -                             -                                            
2032 -                             -                             -                             -                                            
2033 -                             -                             -                             -                                            
2034 -                             -                             -                             -                                            
2035 -                             -                             -                             -                                            

$64,570,000 $37,146,878 $101,716,878 $101,716,878

(1)  Represents scheduled debt service for remaining 12 months of the fiscal year ending August 31, 2007.
(2)  Reflects debt service on Match Bonds outstanding as of August 31, 2006. 
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UNAUDITED

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund

Exhibit I - Combined Statement of Net Assets - Proprietary Funds
August 31, 2006

Total 
Enterprise

Funds
(Exhibit F-1)

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Short Term Investments 103,800,034.41$               
Receivables from:

Federal 1,458,345.66                    
Interest and Dividends 1,717,222.51                    

Loans and Contracts 12,744,000.00                  
Total Current Assets 119,719,602.58                 

Non-Current Assets:
Loans and Contracts 203,180,000.00                 

Total Non-Current Assets 203,180,000.00                 
Total Assets 322,899,602.58                 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Payables from:
Accounts Payable 29,433.62                         

Interfund Payables 2,005,000.00                    
Due to Other Funds 720,872.88                       
Due to Other Agencies 1,101,208.73                    
Deferred Revenue 6,780,822.38                    

Total Current Liabilities 10,637,337.61                  

Non-Current Liabilities: (Note 5)
Interfund Payable 62,565,000.00                  

Total Non-Current Liabilities 62,565,000.00                  
Total Liabilities 73,202,337.61                  

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted 249,697,264.97                 

Total Net Assets 249,697,264.97$               

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



UNAUDITED

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund

Exhibit II  - Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Fund Net Assets - Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2006

Total 
Enterprise

Funds
(Exhibit F-2)

OPERATING REVENUES:
Interest and Investment Income (PR - OP Grants/Contributions) 9,224,578.70$               
Other Operating Revenue (GR) 439,503.71                   

Total Operating Revenues 9,664,082.41                 

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and Wages 5,920,563.91                 
Payroll Related Costs 1,023,343.53                 
Professional Fees and Services 3,625,632.26                 
Travel 91,470.01                     
Materials and Supplies 148,809.97                   
Communication and Utilities 19,649.85                     
Repairs and Maintenance 59,491.75                     
Rentals and Leases 18,505.71                     
Printing and Reproduction 2,250.95                       
Interest 3,076,170.07                 
Other Operating Expenses 254,644.81                   

Total Operating Expenses 14,240,532.82               
Operating Income (Loss) (4,576,450.41)               

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES):
Federal Revenue (PR - Grants/Contributions) 57,020,797.28               
Federal Grant Pass-Through Revenue (Expense) (PR - Grants/Contributions) -                                
Other Benefit Payments (PR - Grants/Contributions) (94,744.02)                    
Other Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses) (4,786,250.03)               

Total Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses) 52,139,803.23               

47,563,352.82               

OTHER REVENUES, EXPENSES, GAINS/LOSSES
 AND TRANSFERS:

Transfers In 3,636,971.00                 

3,636,971.00                 

Change in Net Assets 51,200,323.82               

Total Net Assets - Beginning 198,496,941.15             
Total Net Assets, August 31, 2006 249,697,264.97$           

Income/(Loss) Before Other Revenues, Expenses, Gains/Losses and Transfers

Total Other Revenue, Expenses, Gain/Losses and Transfers

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



UNAUDITED

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund

Exhibit III - Combined Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2006

Total 
Enterprise

Funds
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments to Suppliers for Goods and Services (366,118.90)$          
Payments to Employees for Salaries (2,320,292.15)         
Payments to Employees for Benefits (349,013.30)            
Payments to Employees for Other (24,983.48)              

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (3,060,407.83)         

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Federal Grants 59,678,356.10        
Proceeds from State Appropriations 3,636,971.00          
Proceeds from Advances from Other Funds 12,800,000.00        
Payments of Interest (3,014,962.02)         
Payments for Grant Disbursements (4,880,994.05)         
Payment for Federal Grant Pass-Through (10,624,895.73)       
Repayments of Advances from Other Funds (1,900,000.00)         

55,694,475.30        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from Sales of Investments
Proceeds from Interest Income 4,584,530.18          
Proceeds from Investment Income 4,443,046.42          
Proceeds from Principal Payments on Non-Program Loans 8,469,000.00          
Payments for Non-program Loans Provided (49,664,786.00)       
Payments to Acquire Investments (20,465,858.07)       

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities (52,634,067.47)       

Net (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents -                         

Cash and Cash Equivalents--September 1, 2005 -                         
Cash and Cash Equivalents--August 31, 2006 -$                       

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



UNAUDITED

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund

Exhibit III - Combined Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds (cont.)
For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2006

Total 
Enterprise

Funds
Reconciliation of Operating Income to 

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating Income (Loss) (4,576,450.41)$        

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income 
to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Operating Income and Cash Flow Categories:
Classification Differences 1,158,905.64           
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

(Increase) Decrease in Receivables 321,449.61              
Increase (Decrease) in Payables (36,598.50)              
Increase (Decrease) in Due to Other Funds 72,285.83                

Total Adjustments 1,516,042.58           

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities (3,060,407.83)$        

Non-Cash Transactions
Net Increase (Decrease) in Fair Value of Investments

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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UNAUDITED 
 

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund 
 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

NOTE 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Entity 
The Texas Water Development Board (the Board) is an agency of the state of Texas and its 
financial records comply with state statutes and regulations. This includes compliance with the 
Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts’ Reporting Requirements for State Agencies. 

The Board was created as an agency of the state in 1957, when the voters of the state approved an 
amendment adding Section 49-c to Article 3 of the Texas Constitution.  The Board is primarily 
responsible for administering state and federally funded financing programs for water-related 
projects, water resource planning, data collection, and studies relative to the surface and ground 
water resources of Texas. 

Due to the statewide requirements embedded in Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 34, Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis – for State and Local Governments, the Comptroller of Public Accounts does not require 
the accompanying annual financial report to comply with all the requirements in this statement. 
The financial report will be considered for audit by the State Auditor as part of the audit of the 
State of Texas Comprehensive Annual Financial Report; therefore, an opinion has not been 
expressed on the financial statements and related information contained in this report. 

Fund Structure 
The accompanying financial statements are presented on the basis of funds, each of which is 
considered a separate accounting entity. 

Proprietary Fund Types 

Enterprise Funds 
Enterprise funds are used to account for any activity for which a fee is charged to external 
users for goods or services. Activities must be reported as enterprise funds if any one of 
the following criteria is met. 

1. The activity is financed with debt that is secured solely by a pledge of the net 
revenues from fees and charges of the activity. 

2. Laws or regulations require that the activity’s costs of providing services including 
capital costs (such as depreciation or debt service), be recovered with fees and 
charges. 

3. The pricing policies of the activity establish fees and charges designed to recover its 
costs, including capital costs. 

Basis of Accounting 
The basis of accounting determines when revenues and expenditures or expenses are 
recognized in the accounts reported in the financial statements. The accounting and 
financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. 



UNAUDITED 
 

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund 
 
 

Proprietary funds are accounted for on the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual 
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized at 
the time liabilities are incurred. Proprietary funds distinguish operating from non-
operating items. Operating revenues and expenses result from providing services or 
producing and delivering goods in connection with the proprietary fund’s principal 
ongoing operations. Operating expenses for the enterprise funds include the cost of sales 
and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets.  

Restricted Net Assets 
When both restricted and unrestricted net assets are available for use, restricted resources 
are used first, then unrestricted resources are used as they are needed. 

Assets, Liabilities, and Fund Balances / Net Assets 

ASSETS 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Short-term highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less are 
considered cash equivalents, with the exception of repurchase agreements which are 
classified as Short-Term Investments. 

Investments 
Investments of the Board in authorized securities are reported at fair value in accordance 
with GASB 31 requirements.  Any short-term securities that are exchanged for other 
short-term securities are accounted for using the completed transaction method.  This 
method treats the exchanges as separate sales, purchase transactions, and includes gains 
and losses on the sales in current revenue. 

Interest and Dividends Receivable 
Accrued interest receivable on loans and contracts as of the balance sheet date is included 
in the proprietary funds. 

Notes / Loans and Contracts Receivable 
Although collateralized by bonds of the receiving entity, loans made to political 
subdivisions are presented as Notes/Loans and Contracts Receivable at par.  The portion 
due within the next year is shown separately as a current asset with the remainder as 
noncurrent. 

LIABILITIES 

Accounts Payable 
Accounts Payable represents the liability for the value of assets or services received at the 
balance sheet date for which payment is pending. 

Current Payables - Other 
Other payables are the accrual at year-end of expenditure transactions not included in any 
of the other payable descriptions.  The only significant other payable is the accrued 
interest due as of the balance sheet date on bonds payable in the proprietary funds. 



UNAUDITED 
 

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund 
 
 

NET ASSETS 
The difference between fund assets and liabilities is ‘Net Assets’ on the proprietary fund 
statements. 

Restricted Net Assets 
Restricted net assets result when constraints placed on net asset use are either externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, and the like, or imposed by law through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted Net Assets 
Unrestricted net assets consist of net assets, which do not meet the definition of the two 
preceding categories. Unrestricted net assets often have constraints on resources, which 
are imposed by management, but can be removed or modified. 

INTERFUND ACTIVITIES AND BALANCES 
The agency has the following types of transactions among funds: 

(1) Transfers: Legally required transfers that are reported when incurred as ‘Transfers In’ by 
the recipient fund and as ‘Transfers Out’ by the disbursing fund. 

(2) Reimbursements: Reimbursements are repayments from funds responsible for 
expenditures or expenses to funds that made the actual payment. Reimbursements of 
expenditures made by one fund for another that are recorded as expenditures in the 
reimbursing fund and as a reduction of expenditures in the reimbursed fund. 
Reimbursements are not displayed in the financial statements. 

(3) Interfund receivables and payables: Interfund loans are reported as interfund receivables 
and payables. If repayment is due during the current year or soon thereafter it is classified 
as “Current”, repayment for two (or more) years is classified as “Non-Current”. 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Non-program Loans 
The loans that the Board makes to entities such as cities, counties, and other political 
subdivisions do not meet the criteria established by GASB for inclusion as Cash Flows 
from Operating Activities on the Statement of Cash Flows.  Only certain types of loans to 
individuals are includable as Cash Flows from Operating Activities.  Since GASB refers 
to these loans generically as “program” loans, the loans made by the Board are referred to 
on the Statement of Cash Flows as “non-program” loans to distinguish them from loans 
made to individuals, and their cash flows are included as Cash Flows from Investing 
Activities. 

Classification Differences 
Although the primary operation of the Board’s enterprise funds is the borrowing and 
lending of money for water related projects, the major components of the Operating 
Income or Loss on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net 
Assets are classified on the Statement of Cash Flows as either Cash Flows from Investing 
Activities (Interest and Investment Income) or Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing 
Activities (Interest Expense). 
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NOTE 2: Deposits, Investments & Repurchase Agreements 

The agency is authorized by statute to make investments, and does so in accordance with Chapter 
365 of the Texas Water Development Board rules.  There were no violations of legal provisions 
during the period. 
 
Investments 
As of August 31, 2006, the fair value of investments is as presented below. 
 

Business-Type Activities  Fair Value  
Repurchase Agreement (Texas Treasury Safekeeping Trust Co) 103,800,034.41 

Total $103,800,034.41  

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, 
the agency will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral security that are in 
the possession of an outside party.  The agency will only make payment for and accept delivery 
of securities on a delivery versus payment basis, and securities are held in the name of the 
agency.  As of August 31, 2006, investments were not exposed to custodial credit risk.   

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations.  As required by the agency’s investment policy, investments purchased must be rated 
as to investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm with a minimum of an 
‘A’ rating.  Furthermore, our investment policy requires that our repurchase agreements be 
collateralized by obligations of the U.S. Government or U.S. Government Agencies.  As of 
August 31, 2006, the agency’s credit quality distribution of securities and repurchase agreements 
with credit risk exposure was as follows. 
 
Standard & Poor’s  

Fund 
Type 

GAAP 
Fund Investment Type AAA 

05 3050 
Repurchase Agreement (Texas 
Treasury Safekeeping Trust Co)  $103,800,034.41  

 
 

NOTE 3: Summary of Long-Term Liabilities 

Changes in Long-Term Liabilities  

During the year ended August 31, 2006, the following changes occurred in liabilities:  

 

Business-Type 
Activities 

Balance 
9-1-2005 Additions Deductions 

Balance 
08-31-06 

Amts Due 
within 1 year 

Notes and Loans 
Payable (Interfund) $53,670,000.00  

      
$12,800,000.00  $1,900,000.00 $64,570,000.00  $2,005,000.00 

Total Business-Type 
Activities $53,670,000.00  $12,800,000.00  $1,900,000.00  $64,570,000.00  $2,005,000.00  
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Notes and Loans Payable (Interfund Payable) 
 
Notes and Loans Payable represent advances to the Clean Water and Drinking Water State 
Revolving Funds for the State Match portion of these programs, as well as advances to the Rural 
Water Assistance Fund for loans to political subdivisions. The Debt Service requirements are as 
follows: 

 

Business-Type Activities Notes Payable (Interfund 
Payable) Debt Service 

Requirements  Principal Interest 

2007 $2,005,000.00 $3,076,979.16 

2008 2,115,000.00 3,007,010.70 

2009 2,240,000.00 2,928,563.18 

2010 2,365,000.00 2,840,927.86 

2011 2,510,000.00 2,744,262.52 

2012-2016 14,890,000.00 11,928,816.94 

2017-2021 19,495,000.00 7,920,758.48 

2022-2026 18,000,000.00 2,653,901.88 

2027-2031 950,000.00 45,657.00 

Total Requirements $64,570,000.00  $37,146,877.72  
 

 

NOTE 4: Interfund Balances / Activities  

 
As explained in Note 1 on Interfund Activities and Balances there are numerous transactions 
between funds and agencies. At year-end amounts to be received or paid are reported as: 

• Interfund Receivables or Interfund Payables  
• Due From Other Agencies or Due To Other Agencies 
• Due From Other Funds or Due To Other Funds 
• Transfers In or Transfers Out  

The agency experienced routine transfers with other state agencies, which were consistent with 
the activities of the fund making the transfer.  Repayment of current interfund balances will occur 
within one year from the date of the financial statement.  Individual balances and activity at 
August 31, 2006, follows: 
 

Interfund Receivables and Payables – Current 

Current Portion Interfund 
Receivable 

Interfund 
Payable Purpose 

ENTERPRISE (05)    
Appd Fund 0371, D23 Fund 0371    
   Appd Fund 9999, D23 Fund 0951 2,005,000.00  Match Bonds 
Appd Fund 9999, D23 Fund 0951    
   Appd Fund 0371, D23 Fund 0371  2,005,000.00 Match Bonds 
Total Interfund Receivable/Payable $2,005,000.00 $2,005,000.00  
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Interfund Receivables and Payables – Non-current 

Non-current Portion Interfund 
Receivable 

Interfund 
Payable Purpose 

ENTERPRISE (05)    
Appd Fund 0371, D23 Fund 0371    
   Appd Fund 9999, D23 Fund 0951 62,565,000.00  Match Bonds 
Appd Fund 9999, D23 Fund 0951    
   Appd Fund 0371, D23 Fund 0371  62,565,000.00 Match Bonds 
Total Interfund Receivable/Payable $62,565,000.00 $62,565,000.00  

 

NOTE 5: Contingent Liabilities  

Outstanding Loan and Grant Commitments 
At August 31, 2006, the Board had made commitments to provide political subdivisions and not-
for-profit entities financing from the proceeds remaining from current bond issues, and from the 
proceeds of future bond issues, from the federal draw downs, or from appropriations as follows: 

 For Loans For Grants Total 
Drinking Water State Revolving Fund (DWSRF) 269,643,000.00 7,853,597.73 277,496,597.73 

Total Commitments $269,643,000.00 $7,853,597.73 $277,496,597.73 
 
Federal Costs 
As a prime contractor with a federal granting agency, the Board is contingently liable to refund 
any disallowed costs to the granting agency. The amount of disallowed cost, if any, was 
undeterminable at August 31, 2006. 

NOTE 6: Loans and Contracts 

The Board purchases bonds from political subdivisions (including private water supply 
corporations).  As of August 31, 2006, the balance of these bonds owned by the Board was 
$215,924,000.  In general, the majority of these bonds pay interest semiannually and principal 
annually and allow for early redemption ten years after the original date of issuance.  All bonds 
are secured by either pledged revenue or taxes.  Interest rates on the bonds range from 0% to 
5.7% maturing through the year 2036.  It is the opinion of management that all bonds are fully 
collectible; therefore, no provision for uncollectible amounts is included in these financial 
statements. 

NOTE 7: Available Federal Funds 

As of August 31, 2006, the amount of Federal Funds available through the Automated Standard 
Application for Payments that remain undrawn for the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund is 
$258,190,821.98. 
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NOTE 8: Status of Available Administrative Funding 

The Texas Water Development Board has been awarded grants for this program totaling 
$550,143,800.  The remaining administrative funding at August 31, 2006, relative to the 4% cap 
is $3,035,884.12.  During FY 2006, $3,040,544.53 was drawn against the administration portion 
of the grant to reimburse expenses incurred in General Revenue, while another $357,136.93 was 
accrued as a receivable for General Revenue as of August 31, 2006. 

Loans issued in Fiscal Year 2006 resulted in the collection of administrative cost recovery 
charges.  The Texas Water Development Board has collected service charges totaling $9,026,402 
from DWSRF loan recipients.  In Fiscal Year 2006, $2,624,214 was collected, and $19,863.30 
was expended from fees to pay for bank service charges. 

NOTE 9: State Match Requirements 

Deferral of State match deposits was allowed by EPA for FY 97 grant payments until September 
30, 1999.  The Board deposited $3,000,000 of match bond proceeds to the Fund on April 9, 1999.  
Subsequent deposits of match funds have been made bringing the total match for federal reporting 
purposes to $111,154,496.  During Fiscal Year 2006, state appropriations totaling $3,636,971 
were transferred. 
 



Combining 
Statements 
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Exhibit F-1 - Combining Statement of Net Assets - Enterprise Funds
August 31, 2006

Drinking Water Administration Administration Set Asides Totals
Loan Program (Federal) (Fees) (Exhibit SA-2) (Exhibit I)

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Short Term Investments 100,875,061.22$  -$                  2,924,973.19$   -$                103,800,034.41$  
Receivables from:

Federal -                       357,136.93       1,101,208.73   1,458,345.66        
Interest and Dividends 1,717,222.51        1,717,222.51        

Loans and Contracts 12,744,000.00      12,744,000.00      
Total Current Assets 115,336,283.73    357,136.93       2,924,973.19     1,101,208.73   119,719,602.58    

Non-Current Assets:
Loans and Contracts 203,180,000.00    203,180,000.00    

Total Non-Current Assets 203,180,000.00    -                    -                    -                  203,180,000.00    
Total Assets 318,516,283.73    357,136.93       2,924,973.19     1,101,208.73   322,899,602.58    

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:

Payables from:
Accounts Payable -                       29,433.62         29,433.62             

Interfund Payables 2,005,000.00        2,005,000.00        
Due to Other Funds 393,169.57           327,703.31       720,872.88           
Due to Other Agencies -                       1,101,208.73   1,101,208.73        
Deferred Revenue -                       6,780,822.38     6,780,822.38        

Total Current Liabilities 2,398,169.57        357,136.93       6,780,822.38     1,101,208.73   10,637,337.61      

Non-Current Liabilities:
Interfund Payables 62,565,000.00      62,565,000.00      

Total Non-Current Liabilities 62,565,000.00      -                    -                    -                  62,565,000.00      
Total Liabilities 64,963,169.57      357,136.93       6,780,822.38     1,101,208.73   73,202,337.61      

NET ASSETS
Unrestricted 253,553,114.16    -                    (3,855,849.19)    -                  249,697,264.97    

Total Net Assets 253,553,114.16$  -$                  (3,855,849.19)$  -$                249,697,264.97$  

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit F-2  - Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Fund Net Assets - Enterprise Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2006

Drinking Water Administration Administration Set Asides Totals
Loan Program (Federal) (Fees) (Exhibit SA-2) (Exhibit II)

OPERATING REVENUES:
Interest and Investment Income (PR - OP Grants/Contributions)9,155,631.42$      -$                   68,947.28$        -$                 9,224,578.70$      
Other Operating Revenue (GR) -                         -                     439,503.71        -                   439,503.71           

Total Operating Revenues 9,155,631.42        -                     508,450.99        -                   9,664,082.41        

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and Wages -                         2,570,370.80    -                      3,350,193.11  5,920,563.91        
Payroll Related Costs -                         386,629.59        -                      636,713.94      1,023,343.53        
Professional Fees and Services -                         139,367.54        -                      3,486,264.72  3,625,632.26        
Travel -                         29,619.44          -                      61,850.57        91,470.01             
Materials and Supplies -                         128,991.88        -                      19,818.09        148,809.97           
Communication and Utilities -                         19,649.85          -                      -                   19,649.85             
Repairs and Maintenance -                         59,491.75          -                      -                   59,491.75             
Rentals and Leases -                         18,505.71          -                      -                   18,505.71             
Printing and Reproduction -                         2,250.95            -                      -                   2,250.95               
Interest 3,076,170.07        -                     -                      -                   3,076,170.07        
Other Operating Expenses -                         42,803.96          19,863.30          191,977.55      254,644.81           

Total Operating Expenses 3,076,170.07        3,397,681.47    19,863.30          7,746,817.98  14,240,532.82      
Operating Income (Loss) 6,079,461.35        (3,397,681.47)   488,587.69        (7,746,817.98) (4,576,450.41)       

NONOPERATING REVENUE (EXPENSES):
Federal Revenue (PR - Grants/Contributions) 45,876,297.83      3,397,681.47    -                      7,746,817.98  57,020,797.28      
Other Benefit Payments (PR - Grants/Contributions)(94,744.02)            (94,744.02)            
Other Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses) (4,786,250.03)       (4,786,250.03)       

Total Nonoperating Revenue (Expenses) 40,995,303.78      3,397,681.47    -                      7,746,817.98  52,139,803.23      

47,074,765.13      -                     488,587.69        -                   47,563,352.82      

OTHER REVENUES, EXPENSES, GAINS/LOSSES
 AND TRANSFERS:

Transfers In 3,636,971.00        -                     -                      -                   3,636,971.00        

3,636,971.00        -                     -                      -                   3,636,971.00        

Change in Net Assets 50,711,736.13      -                     488,587.69        -                   51,200,323.82      

Total Net Assets - Beginning 202,841,378.03    -                     (4,344,436.88)    -                   198,496,941.15    
Total Net Assets, August 31, 2006 253,553,114.16$  -$                   (3,855,849.19)$  -$                 249,697,264.97$  

Income/(Loss) Before Other Revenues, 
Expenses, Gains/Losses and Transfers

Total Other Revenue, Expenses, Gain/Losses 
and Transfers

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit SA-2  - Combining Statement of Expenses - Set Aside Programs
For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2006

Administer Source
State Water Capacity Technical Totals
PWSS Protection Development Assistance (Exhibit F-2)

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Salaries and Wages 1,954,727.60 137,266.67 431,062.18 0.00 2,523,056.45
Payroll Related Costs 492,484.54 34,428.23 109,801.17 0.00 636,713.94
Professional Fees and Services 740,249.54 529,378.00 728,990.50 1,487,646.68 3,486,264.72
Travel 20,466.78 0.00 41,383.79 0.00 61,850.57
Materials and Supplies (242.90) 0.00 20,060.99 0.00 19,818.09
Other Operating Expenses 37,921.85 0.00 154,055.70 0.00 191,977.55
Indirect 639,772.92 44,718.31 142,645.43 0.00 827,136.66

Total Operating Expenses 3,885,380.33 745,791.21 1,627,999.76 1,487,646.68 7,746,817.98



Schedules 
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Schedule 1 - Loans and Contracts
 For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2006

Due
ToRecipient 

Original
Amount

Outstanding 
Balance

Due
From

Drinking Water State Revolving Fund:
3/1/2036

 ALVORD, CITY OF 270,000.00 240,000.00 10/1/2004 10/1/2023
 ALPINE, CITY OF 414,000.00 414,000.00 3/1/2007

10/1/2025
 ANAHUAC, CITY OF 210,000.00 170,000.00 8/1/2006 8/1/2025
 ALVORD, CITY OF 45,000.00 45,000.00 10/1/2006

6/1/2023
 BAYTOWN AREA WATER AUTHORITY 360,000.00 360,000.00 5/1/2007 5/1/2026
 BALLINGER, CITY OF 5,250,000.00 4,665,000.00 6/1/2004

10/1/2030
 BOLIVAR PENINSULA SUD 210,000.00 210,000.00 2/15/2007 2/15/2036
 BIG FOOT WSC 69,000.00 58,000.00 10/1/2001

2/15/2027
 BONHAM, CITY OF 315,000.00 315,000.00 2/15/2007 2/15/2036
 BOLIVAR PENINSULA SUD 90,000.00 90,000.00 2/15/2008

5/1/2031
 BROOKELAND FWSD 1,880,000.00 1,695,000.00 9/1/2001 9/1/2020
 BRADY, CITY OF 5,960,000.00 5,085,000.00 5/1/2002

3/15/2021
 BROWNWOOD, CITY OF 1,010,000.00 765,000.00 3/15/2006 3/15/2025
 BROWNWOOD, CITY OF 6,385,000.00 5,760,000.00 3/15/2002

6/1/2034
 BURLESON CO MUD #1 70,000.00 67,000.00 6/1/2006 6/1/2035
 BURLESON CO MUD #1 1,440,000.00 1,430,000.00 6/1/2005

8/15/2020
 DEL RIO, CITY OF 5,845,000.00 4,105,000.00 6/1/2001 6/1/2020
 CORSICANA, CITY OF 10,865,000.00 8,420,000.00 8/15/2001

6/1/2021
 DEL RIO, CITY OF 6,220,000.00 5,410,000.00 6/1/2004 6/1/2022
 DEL RIO, CITY OF 5,400,000.00 4,050,000.00 6/1/2002

9/1/2020
 DIBOLL, CITY OF 260,000.00 250,000.00 2/15/2006 2/15/2025
 DEPORT, CITY OF 350,000.00 280,000.00 9/1/2001

12/1/2034
 EAGLE PASS, CITY OF 7,455,000.00 4,425,000.00 12/1/2003 12/1/2032
 EAGLE PASS, CITY OF 11,545,000.00 11,160,000.00 12/1/2005

12/1/2033
 EAST MEDINA CO SUD 3,200,000.00 2,575,000.00 7/1/2002 7/1/2021
 EAGLE PASS, CITY OF 2,335,000.00 2,185,000.00 12/1/2004

9/1/2033
 EL PASO, CITY OF 15,190,000.00 12,315,000.00 3/1/2002 3/1/2021
 EL JARDIN WSC 420,000.00 270,000.00 9/1/2004

9/1/2026
 FORT WORTH, CITY OF 26,230,000.00 26,230,000.00 3/1/2007 3/1/2025
 FLATONIA, CITY OF 55,000.00 55,000.00 9/1/2007

7/1/2022
 GREATER TEXOMA UA 325,000.00 255,000.00 10/1/2000 10/1/2019
 GOLDEN WSC 850,000.00 825,000.00 7/1/2002

3/1/2031
 HOUSTON, CITY OF 2,145,000.00 2,125,000.00 12/1/2004 12/1/2023
 HAMLIN, CITY OF 5,500,000.00 4,750,000.00 3/1/2002

8/1/2019
 JUNCTION, CITY OF 240,000.00 20,000.00 3/1/2004 3/1/2033
 HUDSON OAKS, CITY OF 1,320,000.00 990,000.00 8/1/2001

3/15/2024
 LOWER COLORADO RA 247,000.00 90,000.00 5/15/2006 5/15/2034
 KOUNTZE, CITY OF 930,000.00 895,000.00 3/15/2000

8/1/2035
 LUFKIN, CITY OF 9,230,000.00 6,840,000.00 11/1/2002 11/1/2021
 LOWER NECHES VALLEY AUTHORITY 18,994,000.00 18,319,000.00 8/1/2006

7/1/2036
 MEXIA, CITY OF 560,000.00 480,000.00 8/15/2003 8/15/2022
 MARLIN, CITY OF 704,000.00 704,000.00 7/1/2007

8/15/2024
 MILLERSVIEW-DOOLE WSC 1,678,000.00 1,602,000.00 12/1/2005 12/1/2034
 MEXIA, CITY OF 595,000.00 550,000.00 8/15/2005

3/1/2024
 NACOGDOCHES, CITY OF 18,835,000.00 18,715,000.00 3/1/2003 3/1/2030
 MOUNT CALM, CITY OF 331,000.00 313,000.00 3/1/2005

3/1/2034
 NACOGDOCHES, CITY OF 375,000.00 375,000.00 3/1/2008 3/1/2027
 NACOGDOCHES, CITY OF 7,655,000.00 7,640,000.00 3/1/2004

9/1/2020
 NORTHEAST TEXAS MWD 2,480,000.00 2,480,000.00 9/1/2007 9/1/2026
 NORTHEAST TEXAS MWD 6,800,000.00 5,540,000.00 9/1/2001

9/1/2024
 OLNEY, CITY OF 1,250,000.00 1,100,000.00 9/1/2003 9/1/2022
 NORTHEAST TEXAS MWD 1,305,000.00 1,290,000.00 9/1/2005

2/15/2021
 PALMER, CITY OF 1,405,000.00 1,185,000.00 7/1/2003 7/1/2022
 ORANGE CO WCID #1 2,565,000.00 2,120,000.00 2/15/2003
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 For the Fiscal Year Ended August 31, 2006

Due
ToRecipient 

Original
Amount

Outstanding 
Balance

Due
From

6/15/2020
 POSSUM KINGDOM WSC 4,700,000.00 4,360,000.00 12/15/2004 12/15/2023
 PECOS CITY, TOWN OF 8,315,000.00 6,825,000.00 6/15/2001

4/1/2022
 RENO CITY OF 330,000.00 275,000.00 1/1/2005 1/1/2024
 RAYMONDVILLE, CITY OF 3,030,000.00 2,895,000.00 4/1/2003

1/1/2024
 ROMA, CITY OF 2,327,000.00 1,847,000.00 11/1/2000 11/1/2029
 RENO CITY OF 95,000.00 75,000.00 1/1/2006

2/1/2026
 SUNBELT FWSD 2,475,000.00 2,210,000.00 12/1/2002 12/1/2026
 SANTA ROSA, CITY OF 410,000.00 410,000.00 2/1/2007

2/15/2028
 SWEETWATER, CITY OF 7,315,000.00 5,855,000.00 8/15/2000 8/15/2020
 SURFSIDE BEACH, VILLAGE OF 70,000.00 70,000.00 2/15/2009

4/1/2031
 VERNON, CITY OF 4,985,000.00 4,005,000.00 3/15/2002 3/15/2021
 TIOGA, CITY OF 580,000.00 555,000.00 4/1/2002

4/1/2022
 WILLIS, CITY OF 765,000.00 510,000.00 8/1/2004 8/1/2023
 WEST JEFFERSON CO MWD 4,195,000.00 3,730,000.00 4/1/2003

Total, Drinking Water State Revolving Fund  $    245,259,000.00  $    215,924,000.00 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT C 



ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS 
EPA Order 5700.7 

 
Effective January 1, 2005, EPA Order 5700.7 was published.  This Order requires States 
to report on environmental benefits within the Drinking Water State Revolving Fund 
(DWSRF).  By this order, it is EPA policy (to the maximum extent practicable), to ensure 
that outputs and outcomes are appropriately addressed in assistance agreement 
competitive funding announcements, work plans and performance reports.  With the 
annual report being defined as a performance report in the DWSRF program, Texas 
Water Development Board (TWDB) is providing the below responses to the outputs and 
outcomes reflective in the FY 2006 Intended Use Plan (IUP): 
 
OUTPUTS: 
 
1. For FY 2006, the TWDB intends to increase the number of commitments made in 

FY 2005 by 25%. 
 

State Response:  The TWDB was able to meet part of its goal to increase the 
number of commitments made in FY 2006 by 25% over the commitments made 
in FY 2005.  The number of binding commitments made in FY 2006 was 14, 
compared to 10 binding commitments made in FY 2005.  However, the total 
dollar volume of the commitments made in FY 2006 was less than the total dollar 
volume of commitments made in FY 2005. Binding commitments made in FY 
2006 totaled $65,306,000, compared to $116,745,000 in FY 2005. 

 
2. For FY 2006, the TWDB intends to increase the number of pre-application 

meetings held in FY 2005 by 33%. 
 

State Response:  A total of 16 joint TWDB/Texas Commission of 
Environmental Quality (TCEQ) pre-application meetings were held for potential 
DWSRF projects in FY 2006, compared to 17 in FY 2005. It should be noted 
that additional meetings and consultations occurred between the two agencies 
regarding these projects throughout the application process.  Also, to ensure 
program success, the TWDB and TCEQ staff met on as regular basis (every two 
months when necessary) to review the progress of the program and discuss 
available marketing opportunities, possible changes and/or alternative financing 
structures to the program to effectively work with potential applicants (current 
and future), and evaluate more efficient uses for the set-aside funds to focus the 
dollars on potential small system applicants.  The TCEQ is scheduling 
specialized training on system evaluations and demonstrations, from a 
regulatory perspective, the recent trends that Texas small systems are 
experiencing.  This type of exchange in ideas and training will cultivate new, 
innovative approaches to financing Texas systems’ needs.  The TWDB and the 
TCEQ continue to work towards bringing all systems into compliance with the 
primary drinking water standards through our partnership efforts. 



3. Develop a list of small public water systems with violations of MCLs.   
 
State Response:  TCEQ developed a list of public water systems with violations 
of MCLs.  From this list, 21 systems were assigned. 
 

4. Analyze, design, and build new functionality required to implement changes to 
the Lead-Copper Rule (LCR), Long Term 1 Surface Water Treatment Rule (LT1 
SWTR), Arsenic Rule and Radionuclide Rules. 

 
State Response:  In FY 2006, TCEQ updated many of the computer data 
systems.  The Lead-Copper Rule date tracking systems were moved out of Fox 
Pro software and moved into a new Access database in preparation for a move to 
the Safe Drinking Water Information System (SDWIS) in FY 2007.  The 
Surface Water Treatment Rule data tracking system is currently being migrated 
to SDWIS.  Most of the groundwork for the migration was completed during FY 
2006 to allow an early FY 2007 implementation; groundwork included new date 
entry systems and facility analyte level (FANL) creation.  Both the Arsenic Rule 
and Radionuclide Rule data systems were updated to comply with the new rules. 

 
5. Evaluate the performance of surface water treatment plants through 

Comprehensive Performance Evaluations (CPEs), Special Performance 
Evaluations and identifying surface water treatment plants that are “at risk” of 
violating treatment technique requirements. 

 
State Response:  Two mandatory CPEs were projected for FY 2006, but six 
mandatory CPEs were triggered and performed.  Three Special Performance 
Evaluations (SPEs) were performed with a new Date Verification element.  To 
support the Data Verification elements and strengthen compliance, two date 
verification checklists were created and tested.  One checklist is used on-site 
during an SPE, while the other is used in-house by TCEQ staff on a regular basis. 

 
OUTCOMES: 
 
1. To restore and maintain the chemical, biological, and physical integrity of the 

State’s drinking water by developing a financial and technical program capable of 
funding all projects annually which pose the most serious risk to public health and 
compliance with the Act.  Progress toward meeting this goal will be documented 
by discussing the activities conducted during the year to ensure that the worst 
health problems are being addressed.  This will include the incorporation of 
environmental benefits measures in conjunction with the EPA workgroup on 
measures.    

 
State Response:  Progress towards this goal in FY 2006 was achieved through 
general DWSRF project successes and the Financial, Managerial, and Technical 
(FMT) program the state has in place to ensure projects are capable for funding 
through DWSRF.   



The TCEQ, pursuant to the DWSRF Program Guidelines (February 1997), has 
implemented a program to evaluate the FMT capability of applicants to maintain 
SDWA compliance. This program ensures that loans are not made to systems that 
lack the FMT components to maintain SDWA compliance. A system lacking 
FMT capability may be funded if it agrees to undertake feasible and appropriate 
changes in operation or if the use of the financial assistance provided through the 
program will ensure compliance over the long-term. 
 
There were several project successes during FY 2006 related to this long-term 
goal.  The City of Nacogdoches completed a project designed to improve the 
City's water treatment facilities. The City utilized the $18,835,000 in DWSRF 
assistance to rehabilitate and increase the capacity of the existing water treatment 
facilities.  Big Foot Water Supply Corporation also completed a project in FY 
2006.  Utilizing $145,000 in DWSRF assistance, the Corporation constructed a 
new water supply well to reduce radium and gross alpha levels to meet state and 
federal drinking water standards. 

Other examples were the Golden Water Supply Corporation for $850,000 (to drill 
two new wells, construct a new ground storage tank and booster pump station and 
the replace distribution lines) and the City of Hamlin for $5,500,000 (to make 
improvements to its water system including construction of a new water 
transmission line to the City of Abilene, a 1.5 mgd pump station and a surge 
tower).    

2. To maintain the fiscal integrity of the DWSRF and assure a continuous 
enhancement of the fund for future generations by complying with generally 
accepted accounting standards and the establishment of a lending rate policy that 
also provides for long-term inflation.  Progress toward meeting this goal will be 
documented by discussion of changes to lending rate policy, loan monitoring 
activities and default information.  

 
State Response:  The fiscal integrity of the fund is maintained through controls 
and procedures governing the application process and loan monitoring. Prior to an 
application being recommended to the TWDB for approval, a financial analyst 
reviews the applicant’s ability to repay its DWSRF loan. The loan is evidenced by 
a bond or loan agreement that denotes the terms of payment and other special 
conditions. The loan agreement requires submittal of an annual independently 
prepared audit. The loans are reviewed at least annually for compliance with loan 
conditions. Special terms outlined in the loan agreement contain the requirements 
of maintaining a contingency account and a reserve account. These two accounts 
are anticipated to strengthen the integrity of the loan. The TWDB has had no loan 
defaults. 
 

 
3. To maintain the fund in perpetuity by establishing a lending rate policy that 

produces sufficient repayment amounts to allow for the growth of funds after 



payment of debt service on state bonds of which the proceeds will be deposited to 
the Fund.  This would be balanced by a concern for the ability of applicants to 
afford the costs of their projects and with the provision of guidance, as necessary, 
in the planning and design of efficient and cost-effective projects.  Progress 
toward meeting this goal will be documented by providing information regarding 
lending rates and status of leveraging.   

 
State Response:  The maintenance of the fund in perpetuity is insured by the 
TWDB establishing a lending rate at a level that produces sufficient repayment 
amounts to allow for the growth of funds after payment of debt service on any 
state bonds. No leverage bonds have been issued to date.   
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